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2006: 
oil crisis evaded  
and a new state of affairs  
in the global economy

Unlike previous oil crises, the steep rise in the price of energy observed since 
2005 has neither disrupted world growth, nor triggered a wave of inflation. 
Some experts were forecasting that the price of a barrel of brent would reach 
100 dollars in 2006. In the end it did not go over 80 dollars. The intensification 
of international trade has fed growth, whilst exerting downward pressure on 
prices.

But a major energy crisis seems only just to have been avoided, the multiple 
geopolitical tensions in the Middle East, Africa and Central Asia maintaining 
a climate of uncertainty. The world is now aware that oil resources are going 
to run out in a few decades time. This observation, combined with growing 
preoccupations about global warming, has revived interest in renewable – and 
even nuclear – energies, and the necessity for public policy to support their 
development.

2006 will also have been marked by a new distribution of the cards in the 
global economy. It is now the emerging countries that are giving the measure. 
These nations form a new pole in the global economy, which, alongside the 
United States, the European Union and Japan, could constitute an accelerator 
or a brake on global expansion. The successful takeover by Mittal Steel of 
Arcelor, the jewel of heavy industry on the Old Continent, appears symbolic in 
this respect. The emerging countries are no longer characterised only by their 
demographic dynamism; their economic weight is becoming predominant, as 
they account for 40% of the world’s exports, 70% of exchange reserves and 
50% of global energy consumption.

China has become the world’s fourth largest economic power in terms of 
GDP,  showing a record trade surplus of approximately 130 billion Euro and 
exports up by 25%. After being confined to the role of “the world’s workshop” 
Beijing now intends to extend its activities to knowledge-based production, 
and is investing the second largest budget on research and development on 
the planet after the United States.

Brazil saw a record trade surplus in 2006, which was not based only on food 
production and mining, but also on aerospace and industry.

l � 



� l l � � l l � 

India is not to be outdone, with 8% growth and exports up 22%. The infor-
mation technologies, which have placed India at the centre of the world’s 
stage, are no longer its only pole of excellence, with Indian companies in the 
automotive and steelmaking sectors showing an aggressive strategy on a global 
scale.

The American economy showed the first signs of a slowdown (although still 
relative, as growth remained at more than 3% over the year), mainly under the 
effect of a reversal in property prices, which had doubled in less than ten years, 
but which saw a fall of 3.5% in 2006. House values are no longer a support 
for credit production, which is damaging consumer confidence and having a 
negative impact on domestic demand. Faced with this change in the economic 
situation, the FED decided to halt the rise in interest rates that has continued  
2004, whilst letting it be understood that it was not yet ready to reverse the 
trend, considering that the risk of inflation had not disappeared.

In Europe, 2006 will have been marked by the vigorous recovery of the 
German economy, with growth close to 3%. This figure is all the more remarka-
ble given that it is not based on domestic demand – salary rises have remained 
low and private consumption only went up by 0.9% – but on the dynamism 
of businesses on the other side of the Rhine. Germany has become the world’s 
number 1 exporter once again, with investments up 6.4% and a 6.1% increase 
in its manufacturing production.

In its wake, the countries in the Euro zone recorded a rise of 2.8%. France 
trailed this movement with an increase in GDP of only 2.1%. Unlike Germany,  
France is suffering from the globalisation of trade. French companies have 
continued to lose export market share. At the same time, imported goods has 
continued to penetrate the French market (+ 9.4% rise in imports of manufac-
tured goods), to the extent that external trade made a negative contribution 
to GDP of - 0.4 point. 
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The only thing driving French growth in 2006 was household expenditure 
(+ 2.7%) encouraged by an increase in purchasing power. One point remains 
positive, though: over 250,000 jobs were created in 2006, allowing the  unem-
ployment rate to drop to 8.6% at the end of the year.
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Financial sector:  
heightened competition on the French 
market encourages internationalisation

Overall, the companies operating in the financial sector showed record profits 
in 2006, carried by low rates, a steady stock market and a dynamic property 
market. 

Nevertheless, the retail banking market in France seems to be marking time. 
For a long time French banks have based the profits growth on the domestic 
market; results in 2006 are generally only slightly up. The economic model 
which still prevailed twenty years ago is now gone for good: it is no longer 
borrowers alone who finance virtually all the banking services offered to the 
community of customers. Heightened competition between establishments led 
in 2006 to a new tightening of margins on lending, in particular on property 
lending, which reached a historically low level. 

Increasing volumes and charges for services are no longer enough to com-
pensate for this phenomenon. Many players are seeking new areas of growth, 
liable to take over from retail banking in France. 

Thus, numerous establishments are developing their business on the financial 
markets, trying to find lines of business with recurrent results. The saturation of 
the domestic market has also led to an acceleration of the internationalisation 
of the major French banks, which made many  foreign acquisitions in 2006. 
New grand strategies are being outlined. The first consists of setting up in 
mature markets in developed countries, but ones which are still supposed to 
offer prospects for growth (Southern Europe, the United States…). The second 
focuses on emerging countries with banking markets that are just opening up 
or being deregulated (Eastern European countries, Asia…).

The Credit Mutuel Group  
Centre Est Europe, Sud-Est, 
Ile-de-France and Savoie-Mont Blanc 
in 2006

In 2006 the Credit Mutuel Group Centre Est Europe, Sud-Est, Ile-de-France 
& Savoie-Mont Blanc continued its development along the same successful 
lines it has set itself for some years: the mutual bank, the “local” bank, the 
technological bank and banking insurance.

It has been enriched by the partnership entered into with the Crédit Mutuel 
Savoie-Mont Blanc, which joined the Caisse Interfédérale CFCMCEE as of 
January 1st, 2006. The Group now has 7.7 million customers in the new Crédit 
Mutuel and CIC networks, with almost 3,300 “Caisses” and branches at their 
service. New branches continued to open in 2006, 73 in all under the Crédit 
Mutuel and CIC names.
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The quality of the relationship maintained with customers and members 
remains the main objective of the Caisses de Crédit Mutuel, which came out 
top in several customer surveys in 2006. For example, the Crédit Mutuel is the 
top bank for customer relations in the TNS-Sofrès survey and in the ranking of 
customer services by the Journal du Net-Management.

These results are the fruit of an original model of mutual governance based 
on constant dialogue, which unites 2.2 million members represented by 9,900 
elected representatives. The values and commitments of the Crédit Mutuel 
were reasserted in 2006 through the Code of ethics and deontology adopted 
simultaneously by the four Federations.

The quality of the network is combined with advanced technologies, an area 
in which the Group intends to keep its position as leader. Thus, through its IT  
subsidiary, Euro Information, in November 2006 the Group launched a world 
first in Strasbourg: contactless payment by means of bank card integrated in a 
mobile phone. The functionalities of a bank card, with the same security requi-
rements and payment protocol, have been integrated into mobile telephones. 
This experiment is backed by a technological consortium (Sagem, Gemalto, 
Inside Contactless, Mastercard) and the mobile phone operator NRJ Mobile, in 
which Euro Information had a 10% stake, increased to 50% in 2007.

Constantly innovating to improve the quality of its relations with the clien-
tele, the Group regularly adds new functionalities to its distance banking and 
insurance offers, and its information system is continually evolving. 

In 2006, with the deployment of the Avance Santé card (a bank card that 
spares people insured at ACM the need to advance the cost of medical treat-
ment), the new online subscription offers, the setting up of a new IP computer 
network in the “Caisses” and branches and the launching of an original service 
allowing customers to dialogue with an advisor by video-phone on the Internet, 
the Group reasserted its capacity for high-tech innovation and reactivity. 

The BFCM, 
the Group’s financial tool

In 2006 the Banque Féderative du Crédit Mutuel (BFCM), the Group’s hol-
ding company, continued its strategy of diversifying sources of financing, whilst 
increasing the volumes raised on the markets.

In total, at the end of 2006, the bank had raised over 85 billion euro. Short-
term requirements have mainly been served by different certificates of deposit 
and ECPs (Euro-Commercial Papers), programmes completed by interbank 
resources.

The long-term resources were for the most part raised in the form of issues 
of EMTNs (Euro Medium Term Notes), for which the amounts outstanding 
are 26 billion euro. Due to the commercial performances achieved in housing 
loans, the long-term resources raised over the course of the year came close 
to 15 billion euro. 
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CIC: conquest and modernisation
In 2006, the CIC, a subsidiary of the BFCM, continued its strategy of deve-

loping and modernising its network, with priority being given to retail ban-
king. Based on a unified, customer-focused information system, and on a 
network of almost 2,000 branches, it won 190,000 new customers and grew 
its savings volume by 8% as well as increasing the volume of loans to clientele 
by 21%.

The CIC saw the Group share of its consolidated net profit group share grow 
by 120% to reach 1.3 billion euro. And so the results confirm the relevance of 
the strategy opted for by the bank. Boosted by its growth and the moderni-
sation of its network, retail banking recorded a net profit of 537 million euro 
(+ 20%). The profits of the finance and market bank stood at 295 million euro; 
those of the private bank at 99 million euro (+ 39%) and those of development 
capital operation rose by 5% to 224 million euro. 

Net banking income (NBI) increased by 33% to reach 4.4 billion euro. The 
growth in NBI was shared in 2006 by all the business areas. It can be explai-
ned mainly by sustained commercial activity as well as by favourable market 
conditions. 

Overheads amounted to 2 billion euro. Their growth remained under control, 
in spite of the development of the network and the tools.

The pre-tax profit amounted to 1.8 billion euro, compared to 724 million 
last year.

Insurance, 
a major strategic group activity 

The insurance business is operated through the GACM group (Groupe des 
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel) whose consolidated turnover amounted to 
8.0 billion euro in 2006 (6.4 billion in life assurance and 1.6 billion in non-life), 
up 8% compared to the previous year. At the end of 2006, the GACM was 
managing 17 million contracts, protecting some 6 million insurees.

The turnover of the savings insurance business also rose by 8% compared 
to last year. Unit-linked contracts this year benefited from particular interest 
on the part of customers: they collected 48% more savings. This trend can be 
explained on the one hand by the contracts’ good yield results, and on the 
other by the transfer possibilities offered by the Fourgous amendment under 
the so-called Breton Law of July 26th, 2005 (conversion from a single- to a 
multi-investment contract, without losing the accrued tax benefits).  

The GACM group, moreover, is still seeing strong growth in its personal 
insurance business (+ 11% on turnover). It was awarded the Label of Excellence 
2006 by the Dossiers de l’Epargne for several of its contracts: Plans Prévoyance, 
XL Prévoyance, Sécuritys, the Tout Santé and Santé CIC. The Group now has a 
portfolio of 470,000 complementary health insurance contracts. Furthermore, 
it has also seen a significant development in its borrower offer (+ 14% on tur-
nover), directly linked to the boom in the property market.



In goods and liability insurance, the Group has held up its positions as the 
leading French bank insurer in the automobile market, and as the 2nd French 
bank insurer in householders’ comprehensive insurance. 2006 was marked 
by the restructuring of the automobile and householders’ insurance offer: the 
range has been extended to increase the potential targets. These efforts contri-
buted to a 4% increase in the turnover of the automobile branch in a stagnant 
market, and a 7.5% increase in the turnover of the householders’ branch, in a 
market that grew by 5%.

Consolidated financial statements
In line with European Regulation 1606/2002 on the application of the inter-

national accounting standards, the Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe and its 
subsidiaries have drawn up their consolidated accounts for the financial year 
ending on December 31th, 2006 according to the IFRS reference system adop-
ted by the European Union on that date. 

The IFRS reference system applied to the establishment of consolidated 
financial statements includes the IAS rules, IFRS standards 1 to 7 and their 
interpretations adopted on that date.

The total of the consolidated balance sheet increased by 12%, to reach 
356.1 billion euro.

Collection of deposits 
The savings managed by the Group reached 324 billion euro in 2006, as 

against 310 billion in 2005, or a rise of 4%. Its components have nevertheless 
seen some contrasting changes: savings insurance saw more sustained growth 
than financial savings and savings in securities.

Deposits went up 8% to 97 billion euro, financial savings were up 1% to 180 
billion euro, and savings insurance rose 11% to 47 billion euro.

Financial savings (“OPCVM” collective savings funds, employee savings sche-
mes, etc.) reached 180 billion euro at the end of 2006. They still constitute the 
largest item in the Group’s savings, with moderate growth (+ 1% compared 
to 2005).

In an economic context where optimism remains moderate, savers are conti-
nuing to favour no-risk investments such as deposit books, forward accounts 
and life and retirement insurance contracts.

In financial savings, the developments reflect the sustained growth of depo-
sits in “Livrets bleus” and other forward accounts, and a decrease in home 
ownership savings plans, which have become less attractive to savers following 
new tax rules concerning these products.
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Savings insurance amounted to 47 billion euro at the end of 2006, up 11 %, 
growth which was in line with the market. Out of the 47 billion, 56% are mana-
ged through the Crédit Mutuel network, as against 44% by the CIC network, 
a breakdown that remains unchanged compared to last year. 

Credits: growth led by home loans
The collection of savings intended to fund credits, which reached 148.4 billion 

euro at the end of 2006 compared to 122.8 billion at the end of 2005 (exclu-
ding related accounts receivable), or an overall increase of 21%. 

This overall increase represents changes contrasting according to the com-
partments of activity. The interest rate context still making home ownership an 
attractive proposition, outstanding housing loans were up by 27% on last year, 
to reach 76 billion euro. Over the same period, outstanding equipment loans 
went up by 13.5% (19.4 billion). Regarding short-term financing, outstanding 
current account advances remained stable (+ 1% to 5,6 billion), whereas outs-
tanding short-term credit facilities went up 23% and amounted to 31.2 billion 
euro at the end of 2006.

n  Developments in savings 
(in billions of euro 
– except attached debts)
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Net banking income for 2006 amounted to 7.4 billion euro, an increase of 
+ 21% compared to the previous year.

A sustained pace of investment was maintained, which, combined with good 
control of operating expenses, made it possible to keep down the growth in 
overheads (+ 6%) and achieve an operating ratio of 55%, almost 9 points 
down on last year.

Gross operating profit amounted to 3.4 billion at the end of 2006, up 
45%. 

Consolidated net profit amounted to 2.3 billion euro, including 2.0 group 
share (+ 45%). All the group’s business sectors contributed to this perfor-
mance.

With a net profit of 955 million euro, the retail banking business weighed 
heaviest in the results. The business maintained a positive level of growth 
(+ 1%), in spite of a difficult economic climate.

The second biggest activity, the insurance business, produced a profit of 
474 million, up 25% on last year.

The Group’s other activities (private bank, finance and market, capital-deve-
lopment) totalled a net profit of 899 million euro.

As regards production, 45 billion euro of loans were granted in 2006, or 20% 
more than last year. Although production was led by housing loans (26 billion 
euro, + 31%), the dynamics were shared, with loans to professionals progres-
sing 7% on the previous year and consumer loans 10%. 

The results
The results of the business may be summarised in the following key figures:

(in millions of euro)	 2006	 2005	 Change

Net banking income 7,433 6,141 + 21 %

General operating expenses and depreciation provision - 4,064 - 3,817 + 6 %

Gross operating profit 3,369 2,324 + 45 %

Consolidated net profit 2,328 1,610 + 45 %

Group share 2,017 1,414 + 43 %

Minority shareholders’ share  311 196 + 59 %
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Customers’ trust,  
the Group’s real wealth

For many years, the Group has successfully combined economic develop-
ment, advanced technology and social concerns. Its command of financial 
innovation and its position as a leader in technology go hand in hand with the 
assertion of its mutual identity and the quest to satisfy its customers. 

Thus, the Group can be proud of its results in 2006 for, beyond its financial  
performance, 272,000 extra customers put their trust in it and this develop-
ment has also had a beneficial effect on employment, since the headcount is 
up 525 posts on last year.

A “local” bank, a cooperative and mutual bank, a bank for all types of clien-
tele (private individuals, companies, farmers and associations), the Group’s 
deep-rooted identity has remained unchanged over the years, in spite of the 
widening of its spheres of activity. 

Aware that its members and customers constitute its true wealth, the Group 
remains faithful to its values, and it is by allowing them to express themselves 
that it intends to develop its strategy and build the bank of tomorrow, as its 
new advertising campaign illustrates: “If I were a banker.”
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Balance Sheet
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Asset (in millions of euro)

 Notes December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

Cash, Central banks, CCP – Assets 4 4,982 5,408

Financial assets at their fair value through profit or loss 5 67,065 70,526

Derivative hedging instruments – Assets 6 1,346 722

Available-for-sale financial assets 7 57,191 50,655

Loans and receivables on credit institutions 4 48,360 46,401

Loans and receivables on clientele 8 149,165 123,549

Revaluation reserve of rate hedged portfolios 9 13 17

Financial assets held to maturity 10 7,457 1,108

Current tax assets  12a 706 409

Deferred tax assets 12b 453 460

Prepayments and accrued income 13 15,232 15,772

Holdings in associated companies 14 176 149

Investment property  15 1,054 664

Tangible fixed assets and buyer finance leasing 16 2,102 1,962

Intangible fixed assets 17 160 148

Goodwill 18 637 589

Total assets   356,099 318,540 

◆
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Liabilities (in millions of euro)

 Notes December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

Central banks, CCP – Liabilities 19 387 0

Financial liabilities at their fair value through profit or loss 20a 26,624 33,194

Derivative hedging instruments – Liabilities  6 1,406 1,203

Debts to credit institutions 19 67,236 58,549

Debts to clientele 21 96,409 89,477

Debts represented by a security 22 72,128 51,435

Revaluation reserve of rate hedged portfolios 9 121 189

Current tax liabilitie 12a 413 444

Deferred tax liabilities 12b 687 629

Accruals and deferred income 23 14,555 15,156

Technical provisions of insurance contracts 24 52,727 48,277

Provisions for liabilities and charges 25 757 807

Subordinated debts 26 5,887 5,242

Shareholders’ equity 27 16,761 13,937

Shareholders’ equity - Group share  14,822 12,422 
– Subscribed capital  3,429 3,323 
– Issue premiums  0 0 
– Consolidated reserves  8,684 7,282 
– Unrealised or deferred gains and losses  692 403 
– Result of the financial year  2,017 1,414

Shareholders’ equity – Non-controlling interests  1,939 1,515

Total liabilities  356,099 318,540

◆



Profit and loss account
(in millions of euro)
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	 Notes	 December	31,	2006	 December	31,	2005

Interest and related income 29 12,611 12,427

Interest and related expenses 29 - 10,960 - 10,743

Commission (income) 30 2,525 2,285

Commissions (expenses) 30 - 839 - 774

Net profit on financial transactions  2,633 1,662

Net income or losses on portfolios 
at their fair value through profit or loss 31 2,406 1,394

Net income or losses  
on available-for-sale financial assets 32 227 268

Income from other activites 33 1,463 1,285

 
Net banking income  7,433 6,141

Personnel costs 34b - 2,457 - 2,309

Other administrative expenses 34c - 1,300 - 1,223

Depreciation provision 35 - 307 - 286

 
Gross operating profit/loss  3,369 2,324

Cost of risk 36 - 143 - 138

 
Operating profit/loss  3,225 2,186

Share in the results  
of associated companies 14 23 17

Net income or losses on other assets 37 14 15

 
Pre-tax profit/loss  3,262 2,217

Corporation tax 39 - 934 - 607

 
Total net profit  2,328 1,610

Consolidated result - Non-controlling interests  311 196

Net	Profit		 	 2,017	 1,414



Statement of net cashflow
(in millions of euro)
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	 2006	 2005

Net profit 2,328 1,610 
Tax 934 - 607

Pre-tax profit 3,262 2,217

 
Net provision for depreciation  
of tangible and intangible fixed assets 302 311 
Depreciation of goodwill and other fixed assets - 3 4 
Net depreciation provisions - 241 - 269 
Share of results linked to associated companies - 13 - 17 
Net loss/income from investment activities - 75 - 138 
(Income)/charges on financing activities   
Other movements 4,889 - 527

Total of non-monetary items included 
in the net profit before tax and other adjustments - 4,860 - 635

 
Flows relating to transactions with credit institutions  - 690 - 1,784 
Flows relating to transaction with the clientele - 18,453 - 11,417 
Flows relating to other transactions affecting financial assets or liabilities - 196 435 
Flux relating to other transactions affecting non-financial assets or liabilities - 1,148 5,617 
Tax paid - 1,008 - 489

Net reduction/(increase) in assets  
and liabilities coming from operational activities - 21,495 - 7,638

Total	net	cashflow	generated	by	the	operational	activity	(A)	 -	13,374	 -	6,056

 
Flows relating to financial assets and holdings 228 281 
Flows relating to investment property -3 - 227 
Flows relating to tangible and intangible fixed assets - 387 - 353

Total	net	cashflow	relating	to	investment	activities	(B)	 -	162	 -	299

 
Cashflows coming from ot going to shareholders - 66 253 
Other cashflows coming from financing activities 11,868 4,948

Total	cashflow	relating	to	financing	operations	(C	)	 11,802	 5,201

Effect	of	exchange	rate	variation	on	cashflow	and	related	flows	(D)	 37	 2

Net increase/(reduction) of cashflow  
and cashflow equivalents (A + B + C + D) - 1,697 - 1,153

Net cashflow generated by the operational activity (A) - 13,374 - 6,056 
Net cashflow relating to investment transactions (B) - 162 - 299 
Net cashflow relating to financing operations ( C) 11,802 5,201 
Effect of exchange rate variation on cashflow  
and cashflow equivalents (D) 37 2

Cashflow and cashflow equivalents on opening 3,386 4,539

Cash, central banks, CCP (assets and liabilities) 5,407 3,915 
Accounts (assets and liabilities) and lending/borrowing  
with credit institutions - 2,022 624

Cashflow and cashflow equivalents on closing 1,689 3,386

Cash, central banks, CCP (assets and liabilities) 4,595 5,407 
Accounts (assets and liabilities) and lending/borrowing  
with credit institutions -2,906 - 2,022

Variation	in	net	cashflow	 -	1,697		 -	1,153



 

Changes to consolidated shareholders’ equity
(in millions of euro)
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    Shareholders’ equity, group share    Non-controlling
       interests

 Capital Premiums Reserves1 + / - deferred values Profit/loss Total
    of available year 
    for sale assets 

Balance on January 1st, 2005 2,961  6,593 0 1,113 10,668 1,278

Impact of the adoption of the IFRS   (413) 257  (156) 44

 
Balance on January 1st, 2005 pro forma 2,961  6,180 258 1,113 10,512 1,322

Consolidated profit/loss for the financial year     1,414 1,414 196 
Allocation of the profit of the previous year   1,113  (1,113) 
Distribution of dividends   (82)   (82) (27) 
Increase in capital 362     362  
Exchange rate variations   27   27 3 
Fair value variations of available for sale assets    145  145 24 
Effects of changes to the scope   44   44 (4) 
Other variations

 
Balance on December 31th, 2005 3,323  7,282 403 1,414 12,422 1,515

 
Balance on January 1st, 2006 3,323  7,282 403 1,414 12,422 1,515

Consolidated profit/loss for the financial year     2,017 2,017 311 
Allocation of the profit of the previous year   1,414  (1,414)   
Distribution dividends   (91)   (91) (33) 
Increase in capital 58     58  
Exchange rate variations   (26)   (26) (4) 
Fair value variations of available for sale assets    301  301 43 
Effects of changes to the scope2 48  79 (12)  115 107 
Other variations   26   26

Balance on December 31th, 2006 3,429  8,684 692 2,017 14,822 1,939

1. The reserves consist on December 31th, 2006 of the legal reserve 17 millions euro, the statutory reserves 1,144 millions euro,  
the balance carried forward – 19 millions euro, and other reserves 7,542 millions euros. 

2. Including the attachment of the Savoie-Mont Blanc federation on January 1st, 2006 for 67 millions euro.
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    Shareholders’ equity, group share    Non-controlling
       interests

 Capital Premiums Reserves1 + / - deferred values Profit/loss Total
    of available year 
    for sale assets 

Balance on January 1st, 2005 2,961  6,593 0 1,113 10,668 1,278

Impact of the adoption of the IFRS   (413) 257  (156) 44

 
Balance on January 1st, 2005 pro forma 2,961  6,180 258 1,113 10,512 1,322

Consolidated profit/loss for the financial year     1,414 1,414 196 
Allocation of the profit of the previous year   1,113  (1,113) 
Distribution of dividends   (82)   (82) (27) 
Increase in capital 362     362  
Exchange rate variations   27   27 3 
Fair value variations of available for sale assets    145  145 24 
Effects of changes to the scope   44   44 (4) 
Other variations

 
Balance on December 31th, 2005 3,323  7,282 403 1,414 12,422 1,515

 
Balance on January 1st, 2006 3,323  7,282 403 1,414 12,422 1,515

Consolidated profit/loss for the financial year     2,017 2,017 311 
Allocation of the profit of the previous year   1,414  (1,414)   
Distribution dividends   (91)   (91) (33) 
Increase in capital 58     58  
Exchange rate variations   (26)   (26) (4) 
Fair value variations of available for sale assets    301  301 43 
Effects of changes to the scope2 48  79 (12)  115 107 
Other variations   26   26

Balance on December 31th, 2006 3,429  8,684 692 2,017 14,822 1,939

1. The reserves consist on December 31th, 2006 of the legal reserve 17 millions euro, the statutory reserves 1,144 millions euro,  
the balance carried forward – 19 millions euro, and other reserves 7,542 millions euros. 

2. Including the attachment of the Savoie-Mont Blanc federation on January 1st, 2006 for 67 millions euro.



. NOTEs 
TO THE 
CONsOLidATEd 
ACCOUNTs



Accounting principles 
and methods
Note 1.1 Accounting reference system

In application of Regulation (EC) 1606/2002 on the 
application of the international accounting standards and 
Regulation (EC) 1725/2003 on their adoption, the consoli-
dated financial statements for the financial year have been 
drawn up according to the IFRS reference system adopted 
by the European Union on the closing date of the financial 
year. This IFRS reference system includes the IAS standards, 
IFRS rules 1 to 7 and their interpretations adopted on that 
date. The summary documents are presented according to 
recommendation CNC 2004-R.03.

Note 1.2 Scope and methods 
of consolidation

u Scope of consolidation

The general principles governing the inclusion of an entity 
in the scope are laid down by IAS 27, IAS 28 and IAS 31.

The scope of consolidation consists of:

Entities under exclusive control
There is a presumption of exclusive control when the 

group holds, directly or indirectly, a majority stake in the 
capital and either the majority of the voting rights or the 
power to appoint a majority of the members of the mana-
gement or supervisory bodies, or when the group exercises 
a dominant influence. The accounts of the entities under 
exclusive control are consolidated by global integration.

Entities under joint control
Joint control is the sharing, by virtue of a contractual 

agreement, of control over an economic activity, whatever 
the structures or forms according to which the activities are 
conducted. Entities under joint control are consolidated by 
proportional consolidation.

Entities under significant influence
These are entities that are not controlled by the conso-

lidating entity, but over which there is a power of partici-
pation in financial and operational policy. The securities of 
entities in which the Group exercises a significant influence 
are valued by the equity method.

Entities under control or under significant influence which 
do not represent a significant amount in the consolidated 

accounts are excluded from the scope of consolidation. 
This situation is presumed when the balance sheet total or 
the company’s profit or loss do not have an impact of more 
than 1% on the consolidated or subconsolidated equivalent 
(in the case of consolidation in stages). This quantitative 
criterion is only relative; an entity may be included in the 
scope of consolidation in spite of this threshold, when its 
activity or its anticipated development give it the quality 
of strategic investment.

An ad hoc entity is consolidated if the conditions laid 
down by SIC 12 (activities of the entity conducted exclu-
sively on behalf of the Group, decision-making or mana-
gement power to obtain the majority of the advantages 
relating to the current activities of the entity, ability to 
benefit from the advantages of the entity, conservation of 
the majority of the risks) are fulfilled. 

Stakes held by development capital companies and over 
which joint control or significant influence are exercised are 
excluded from the scope of consolidation and are accoun-
ted for at fair value on option.

u Changes to the scope

The changes to the scope at December 31th, 2006 are 
as follows:

Entering the scope
Several entities created in 2006 and bearing securities 

are consolidated by global integration: Sofiholding 3, 
Pargestion 3, Valimar 3, Gestunion 3, Ufigestion 3, 
Pargestion 4, Valimar 4, Gestunion 4, Pargestion 5 and 
Sofiholding 4.

Entering the ACM subgroup, the following entities: 
Partners, Massena Property, Massimob, SNC Foncière 
Massena.

Leaving the scope
The CIC banks became members of EIG Euro Information 

Production (EIP) as of January 1st, 2006. The IEG CIC 
Production has been without any activity since this date 
and has left the scope of consolidation.

Mergers 
– On September 29th, 2006 CM-CIC Bail absorbed Bail 
Ouest and CIAL Equipement. 
– CIC Information merged on April 10th, 2006 with Euro-
Information with retroactive effect from January 1st, 
2006.
– Sérénis and Telévie merged into the entity Sérénis Vie.
– Atout Insurance has been absorbed by ICM Ré. The Atout 
ITS securities, held by the Banque du Luxembourg, were 
therefore first transferred to the CIC then to ACM IARD on 
June 20th, 2006.
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As part of the restructuring of the CIC Group, 
– CIC Banque BRO was absorbed by CIC Banque CIO at the 
general meeting of December 28th, 2006,
– CIC Banque CIN was absorbed by CIC Banque Scalbert 
Dupont at the general meeting of December 29th, 2006.
– The bank CIAL contributed its market business to the CIC 
by a partial business transfer and received 229,730 CIC 
shares in exchange. These shares have been passed up to 
the CIC in the form of dividends, with retroactive effect 
from January 1st, 2006.
– The Crédit Fécampois contributed it activities to the 
Banque Scalbert Dupont by a decision of its extraordinary 
general meeting of December 29th, 2006 with retroactive 
effect from January 1st, 2006. At December 31th, 2006 
the Crédit Fécampois held 3.2% of CIC Banque Scalbert 
Dupont-CIN.

These mergers have no impact on the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

Changes in company names 
The IEG GTOCM becomes Euro Information Production 

(EIP).
Certain entities in the Development capital activities have 

been grouped together in the CIC Finance unit and have 
been renamed:
–  C IC Cap i ta l  Déve loppement  becomes  C IC 
Investissement, 
– CIC Régions Expansion becomes CIC Investissement 
Nord, 
– SNVB Participations becomes CIC Investissement Est, 
– Finances & Stratégies becomes CIC Investissement 
Alsace.

u Methods of consolidation 

The methods of consolidation used are as follows:

Global integration 
This method consists of substituting for the value of the 

securities each of the assets and liabilities of each subsidiary 
and of isolating the part of the non-controlling interest in 
the shareholders’ equity and in the results. It applies to all 
the entities under exclusive control, including those with 
different accounting structures, whether or not the activity 
is an extension of that of the consolidating entity.

Proportional consolidation
This method consists of integrating in the accounts of 

the consolidating entity the fraction representing its inte-
rest in the accounts of the entity consolidated, after any 
necessary restatements; no non-controlling interests are 
therefore recognised. It applies to all the entities under 
joint control, including those with different accounting 
structures, whether or not the activity is an extension of 
that of the consolidating entity.

Equity accounting
This means substituting for the value of the securities the 

Group’s share in the shareholders’ equity and the results of 
the entities concerned. It applies to all the entities under 
significant influence.

u Closing date 

All the companies in the group included in the scope of 
consolidation close their corporate accounts on December, 
31th.

u Elimination of reciprocal transactions

The reciprocal accounts as well as the profits resulting 
from assignments between the entities in the Group and 
having a significant impact on the consolidated accounts 
are eliminated.

Inter-company receivables, debts, commitments, charges 
and internal income are eliminated for the entities conso-
lidated by global integration and proportional consolida-
tion.

u Conversion of accounts in foreign currencies 

Concerning the accounts of foreign entities expressed 
in other currencies, the balance sheet is converted on the 
basis of the official exchange rate on the balance sheet 
date. The difference in the capital, reserves and balance 
carried forward is entered into the shareholders’ equity, 
in the “Conversion reserves”. The income statement is 
converted on the basis of the average rate over the finan-
cial year. The resulting conversion differences are entered 
directly in the “Conversion reserves” account. This dif-
ference is reintegrated into the result in the event of the 
assignment or liquidation of all or a part of the stake held 
in the foreign entity.

The Group opted to reset the conversion reserves to 
zero in the opening balance sheet of January 1st, 2004 as 
allowed by IFRS 1.

u Goodwill 

Purchase price discrepancy
At the date when a new entity is taken over, the assets, 

the liabilities, as well as any contingent operating liabilities 
are valued at their fair value. The purchase price discre-
pancy corresponding to the difference between the book 
value and the fair value is entered into the accounts.

Goodwill
In accordance with IFRS 3, on the date when a new 

entity is taken over, the assets and liabilities as well as the 
contingent liabilities are valued at their fair value. The dif-
ference between the acquisition price of the securities and 
the total valuation of the assets, liabilities and contingent 
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liabilities constitutes the goodwill. If it is positive, it is ente-
red on the assets side and if it is negative, it is immediately 
entered into the result, under “Variations in the value of 
goodwill. 

In the case of an increase in the Group’s percentage inte-
rest in an entity already controlled, the difference between 
the acquisition cost of the securities and the complemen-
tary portion of the consolidated shareholders’ equity that 
these securities represent on the date of their acquisition is 
entered into the shareholders’ equity.

The Group regularly carries out, and at least once a year, 
goodwill depreciation tests. The aim of these tests is to 
ensure that the goodwill has not undergone any depre-
ciation. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit (CGU) to which the goodwill allocated is less than its 
book value, a depreciation is entered for the amount of 
the difference. This depreciation, recognised as a result, 
is irreversible. In practise, the CGUs are defined in relation 
to business lines according to which the Group conducts 
its business.

Note 1.3 Accounting principles and methods

The IFRS standards offer a choice of accounting methods 
on certain subjects. The main options chosen by the group 
concern:
– the use of the fair value or of a revaluation as the presu-
med cost of the fixed assets at the time of the conversion: 
this option may apply to any tangible fixed asset, any 
intangible asset that meets the revaluation criteria, or any 
investment property valued on the basis of the cost. The 
group has chosen not to use this option;
– the immediate recognition as shareholders’ equity of 
actuarial gains/losses relating to staff benefits has not been 
applied by the Group;

The Group opted to reset the conversion reserves to 
zero in the opening balance sheet of January 1st, 2005 as 
allowed by IFRS 1.
– the valuation at the market price of certain liabilities 
issued by the company not belonging to the trading 
book. In June 2005 the IASB published an amendment 
to standard IAS 39 “Financial instruments: recognition 
and measurement”, laying down the conditions of use 
of fair value through profit or loss for financial assets and 
liabilities, which was adopted by the European Union on 
November 15th, 2005. The Group opted for its application 
as from January 1st, 2005;
– the eligibility for fair value hedging relationships of macro 
hedging operations carried out as part of the assets-lia-
bilities management of fixed rate positions (including in 
particular clientele sight deposits) authorised by Regulation 
no 2086/2004 of the European Commission, was applied 
by the Group.

Note 1.3.1 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are fixed or determinable income 
financial assets not listed on an active market. They include 
loans granted directly or the share in the context of syn-
dicated loans, acquired loans and unlisted debt securities. 
They are recognised at their market value when they are 
entered into the balance sheet, which is generally the net 
amount paid out. The rates applied are presumed to be 
market rates insofar as the scales are adjusted permanently 
according in particular to the rates of the great majority 
of competing institutions. These outstanding amounts are 
then valued at the following closing dates at the deprecia-
ted cost by using the effective interest rate method (except 
for those that have been entered into the accounts accor-
ding to the fair value by option method).

Commission directly relating to the setting up of the 
loan, received or paid and of the interest type, is spread 
over the duration of the loan according to the effective 
interest rate method and is entered in the income state-
ment among the interest items.

The fair value of the loans is communicated in the notes 
on each closing date: it corresponds to the discounting of 
the future flows estimated on the basis of a zero coupon 
rate curve which does not include a signature cost inherent 
to the debtor.

Note 1.3.2 Provisions for depreciation of loans 
and receivables, financing 
and guarantee commitments 

u  Individual provision for depreciation  
of loans and receivables

A depreciation is recognised as soon as there is objective 
proof of depreciation resulting from one or more events 
occurring after the setting up of the loan — or of a group 
of loans — and liable to generate a loss. An analysis is done 
at each closing date contract by contract. The depreciation 
is equal to the difference between the book value and the 
discounted value at the original interest rate of the loan of 
the estimated flows taking account of the effect of the gua-
rantees. In the case of a variable rate, it is the last known 
contractual rate that is used.

The existence of payments due and unpaid for over 
3 months, 6 months for property and 9 months for local 
authorities, represents objective proof of a loss event. 
Similarly when it is probable that the debtor will not be 
able to pay back all the amounts due or when there is an 
event of default or again in the case of official receivership 
an objective indication of loss is identified.

The depreciation is accounted for in the form of a pro-
vision, the amounts of which are included in the cost of 
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the risk. Writebacks of provisions are recorded in cost of 
the risk for the part relating to the variation in the risk and 
as interest margin for the part relating to the passage of 
time. The provision is deducted from the assets for the 
depreciation of loans and is entered in the liabilities among 
the provisions for risks for the financing and guarantee 
commitments.

Irrecoverable receivables are entered as losses and the 
corresponding provisions are the subject of a writeback.

u Collective provision for loans and receivables

Loans to the clientele not depreciated on an individual 
basis are the subject of a provision for homogenous loan 
portfolios in the case of the deterioration of internal or 
external ratings, on the basis of losses in the event of a 
default and of the probability of a default until maturity 
observed internally or externally, applied to outstanding 
loans. It is entered as a deduction of the outstanding 
amounts corresponding to the assets, and the variations 
over the financial year are recorded under the item “cost 
of risk” in the income statement.

Note 1.3.3 Lease contracts 

A lease is an agreement whereby a lessor assigns to 
a lessee, for a given period, the right to use an asset in 
exchange for a payment or a series of payments.

A direct financing lease is a lease that has the effect of 
transferring to the lessee virtually all the risks and advanta-
ges inherent in the ownership of an asset. The transfer of 
ownership may occur or not, in fine.

A simple lease refers to any lease other than a direct 
financing lease.

u Lessor direct financing lease operations

In accordance with IAS 17, the direct financing lease ope-
rations carried out with companies outside the group fea-
ture in the consolidated balance sheet for their outstanding 
amounts determined according to financial accounting.

In the lessor’s accounts, the analysis of the economic 
substance of the operations leads to: 
• recognising a financial claim on the client, depreciated 
by the rents received;
• breaking down the rents into, on the one hand the inte-
rest and, on the other the amortisation of the capital, called 
financial amortisation;
• recognising a net hidden reserve, equal to the difference 
between:
– the net financial liabilities: the lessee’s debt constituting 
the capital remaining due and the accrued interest at the 
end of the financial year;

– the net book value of the fixed assets leased;
– the provision for deferred tax.

u Lessee direct financing lease operations

In accordance with IAS 17, the fixed assets are entered in 
the balance sheet assets by way of compensation for a loan 
with credit institutions in the liabilities. The rents paid are 
broken down into  interest charges and reimbursement of 
the principal of the debt.

Note 1.3.4 Securities acquired 

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss.

Classification 
The category of “Financial instruments valued at fair 

value through profit or loss” includes: 
1. financial instruments held for transaction purposes. 

These are mainly instruments which: 
a. have been acquired to be sold or bought again in the 

short term, or
b. are integrated in a portfolio of financial instruments 

managed together for which an effective recent schedule 
for short term profit taking exists, or again 

c. constitute a derivative not qualified as a hedge; 
2. financial instruments classified by choice from the 

outset at the fair value through profit or loss in application 
of the option opened up by IAS 39 whose conditions of 
application were laid down by the amendment published 
in June 2005. The aim of the application of the fair value 
option is to produce more relevant financial information, 
with in particular:

a. the fair value valuation of certain composite financial 
instruments without separation of the embedded deri-
vatives, whose separate valuation would not have been 
sufficiently reliable

b. the significant reduction of distortions in accounting 
treatment between certain assets and liabilities,

c. the management and monitoring of the performances 
of a group of assets and/or liabilities corresponding to a 
management of the risks or an investment strategy carried 
out at the fair value. This category includes in particular 
the securities of the development capital business as well 
as balance sheet items of the market operations.

The group has used this option in particular within the 
framework of unit-linked contracts in the insurance busi-
ness out of coherence with the treatment applying to liabi-
lities as well as for the securities of the development capital 
business and certain debts issued including embedded 
derivatives.



Embedded derivatives 
An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid ins-

trument which, separate from its host contract, meets the 
definition of a derivative. In particular, it has the effect of 
making certain cash flows vary in a similar way to that of a 
freestanding derivative. 

This derivative is detached from the host contract to 
be accounted for separately as a derivative instrument at 
fair value through profit or loss when the three following 
conditions are met:
– the hybrid instrument hosting this embedded derivative 
is not valued at fair value through profit or loss,
– the economic characteristics of the derivative and its 
related risks are not considered as closely linked to those 
of the host contract,
– the distinct valuation of the embedded derivative to be 
separated is sufficiently reliable to provide relevant infor-
mation.

 Basis for assessment and recognition  
of expenses and income 
Instruments classified as “assets and liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss” are counted when they are entered 
into the balance sheet at their fair value, as well as at later 
closing dates, and this until they are sold. Variations in fair 
value and the income received or accrued on the fixed 
income securities classified in this category are recorded 
in the income statement under the item “Net income or 
losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss”. 

Purchases and sales of securities valued at fair value 
through profit or loss are entered into the accounts on the 
settlement date. Variations in fair value between the trade 
date and the settlement date are counted in the result. The 
assessment of the counter-party risk on these securities is 
taken into account in the fair value.

Fair value or market value
The fair value is the amount at which an asset could be 

exchanged or a liability extinguished, between well-infor-
med and consenting parties acting in normal conditions of 
competition. When an instrument is first recognised, its fair 
value is generally the transaction price. 

The fair value in the case of the listing of the financial 
instruments on an active market is the price listed or market 
value, for this is the best estimation of the fair value.

The price quoted in the context of an asset held or a liabi-
lity to be issued is generally the bid price and the ask price 
when it is a liability held and an asset to be acquired.

In the event of symmetrical active and passive positions, 
only the net position is valued according to the bid price 
if it is a net asset or a net liability to be issued and accor-

ding to the ask price if it is a net liability or net asset to be 
acquired.

The market is said to be active when the prices quoted 
are easily and frequently available and these prices repre-
sent real transactions and occur regularly in normal condi-
tions of competition on very similar financial instruments. 

When the quotation market is not active, the fair value is 
determined using assessment techniques. 

The derivatives are revaluated on the basis of data obser-
vable in the market (for example rate curves). The notion of 
bid/ask must then be applied to these observable data.

For the securities of the development capital business, a 
multi-criteria approach is applied, completed by experience 
in the field of valuing unlisted companies. 

u Available-for-sale financial assets

Classification 
Available-for-sale financial assets include the financial 

assets not classified as “loans and receivables”, nor as 
“financial assets held until maturity” nor as “fair value 
through profit or loss”.

 Basis for assessment and recognition  
of expenses and income 
These assets are recognised in the balance sheet at their 

market value at the time of their acquisition and at future 
closing dates, until they are sold. Variations in fair value 
are recorded under a specific item of shareholders’ equity 
called “unrealised or deferred income or losses”, outside 
accrued revenue. This unrealised income or losses entered 
into the accounts as shareholders’ equity is only recognised 
in the income statement in the event of their sale or perma-
nent decline in value. In the event of sale, this unrealised 
income or losses previously entered as shareholders’ equity 
is recognised in the income statement under the item “Net 
income or losses on available-for-sale financial assets”, as 
well as the capital gain or loss. Purchases and sales of secu-
rities are recognised on the settlement date.

The accrued or acquired revenue from fixed income secu-
rities is recognised in the results under the item “Interest 
and related income”. The dividends received on variable 
income securities are recorded in the income statement 
under the item “Net gains or losses on available-for-sale 
financial assets”.

Depreciation of available-for-sale assets 
A depreciation is recognised on the available-for-sale 

financial assets in the event of a prolonged  and/or signifi-
cant drop in the fair value compared to the cost. 

Losses due to a permanent decline in the value of availa-
ble-for-sale financial assets “shares or assimilated” entered 
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in the results are irreversible as long as instrument is inclu-
ded in the balance sheet. They are accounted for under the 
item “Net income or losses on available-for-sale financial 
assets”. 

Losses due to the permanent decline in value of fixed 
income available-for-sale financial assets (bonds in particu-
lar) are reversible and are entered into the accounts under 
the item “cost of risk” when they concern credit risk. 

u Financial assets held to maturity 

Classification 
Financial assets held to maturity are fixed or determina-

ble income financial assets necessarily listed on an active 
market that the Group has the intention and ability to 
keep until their maturity and has not decided to classify as 
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss or 
as available-for-sale financial instruments. The criteria of 
intention and ability to keep securities until their maturity 
are checked on each closing date. 

 Basis for assessment and recognition  
of expenses and income 
The securities are recorded when they are acquired at 

their fair value. The transaction costs are spread as they are 
integrated into the calculation of the effective interest rate 
except when they are not significant, in which case they are 
recorded in the result at inception. On future closing dates, 
the securities are valued at the depreciated cost according 
to the effective interest rate method, which integrates the 
actuarial amortisation of premiums and discounts corres-
ponding to the difference between the acquisition value 
and the reimbursement value of these securities.

The income received from these securities is presented 
under the item “Interest and related income” in the income 
statement.

Depreciation
Financial assets held to maturity are depreciated in the 

same way as loans and receivables from the moment when 
the value is affected by a credit risk. 

u Derivatives and hedge accounting

 Financial instruments at fair  
value through profit or loss-derivatives 
A derivative is a financial instrument:

– whose fair value depends on an interest rate, the price 
of financial instruments, the price of raw materials, an 
exchange rate, a price, rate or credit index or another 
variable known as an underlying;
– which requires a low net investment or no investment or 
one lower than a non-derivative financial instrument to have 
the same sensitivity to the variation in the underlying;

– which is unwound at a future date.
Derivatives are part of the financial instruments held for 

transaction purposes except when they enter into a hed-
ging relationship.

They are entered in the balance sheet among the finan-
cial instruments at fair value through profit or loss for their 
fair value. Variations in fair value and the accrued interest 
or interest due are entered into the accounts among the 
net income and losses nets on financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss. 

The hedge derivatives that meet criteria required by 
standard IAS 39 to be qualified from an accounting point of 
view as hedging instruments are classified in the categories 
“Fair value hedges” or “Cash flow hedges” as appropriate. 
The other derivatives are all classified by default in the cate-
gory transaction assets or liabilities, even if economically 
they have been subscribed with a view to covering one or 
more risks. 

Embedded derivatives
An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid ins-

trument which, separate from its host contract, meets the 
definition of a derivative. Making certain cash flows vary in 
a similar way to that of a freestanding derivative. 

This derivative is detached from the host contract to 
be accounted for separately as at a derivative instrument 
fair value through profit or loss when the three following 
conditions are met:
– the hybrid instrument hosting this embedded derivative 
is not valued at fair value through profit or loss,
– the economic characteristics of the derivative and its 
related risks are not considered as closely linked to those 
of the host contract,
– the distinct valuation of the embedded derivative to be 
separated is sufficiently reliable to provide relevant infor-
mation.

 Financial instruments at fair value through profit  
or loss-derivatives-structured products
Structured products are financial packages offered to 

customers to meet their needs more precisely. They are 
constructed from elementary products, generally options. 
There are different categories of structured products based 
on the following elementary products: simple options, 
binary options, barrier options, Asian options, look back 
options, options on several assets, index swaps.

There are three main families of methods of valuing these 
products: the methods arising out the resolution of a partial 
differential equation, the discrete time tree methods and 
the Monte-Carlo methods. The first and the last methods 
are used. The analytical methods applied are those selected 
by the market for modelling the underlying instruments 
used. 
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The parameters used for pricing are those observed or 
deduced via a standard model of the values observed, on 
the closing date. If there is no organised market, the values 
used are taken from the brokers most active on the corres-
ponding products and/or extrapolated from quoted values. 
All the parameters used are historised. Unlisted financial 
futures are revalued from the prices observable in the mar-
ket, according to the procedure known as “flashing”. This 
last method consists of noting each day at the same time 
the prices offered and asked by several contributors via 
market flow software. A single price is retained for each 
useful market parameter.

Certain complex financial instruments and mainly single 
and multi-barrier underlying share structured products, 
generally made to measure, not very liquid and long-dated, 
are valued using models developed internally and valuation 
parameters such as long volatilities, correlations, estima-
tions of dividends in part not observable on the active mar-
kets. When they are first entered into the accounts, these 
complex instruments are recorded in the balance sheet at 
the transaction price, which is considered as the best indi-
cation of the market value although the valuation produced 
by the models may be different. This difference between 
the negotiation price of the complex instrument and the 
value obtained using the internal model, generally a gain, 
is known as “Day one profit”. The accounting laws prohibit 
the recognition of the margin made on products valued 
using models and parameters not observable on active 
markets. It is therefore deferred. When it concerns single 
underlying products without a barrier, the margin is spread 
over the lifespan of the instrument. For products including 
barrier options, in view of the specific risks relating to the 
management of these barriers, the margin is recognised on 
the maturity date of the structured product. 

Hedge accounting
The IAS 39 rule allows three forms of hedging rela-

tionship. The choice of the hedging relationship is made 
according to the nature of the risk covered. Fair value 
hedging allows the hedging of exposure to variations in 
the fair value of financial assets or liabilities, and it is used 
in particular to hedge rate risks on fixed-rate assets and lia-
bilities as well as sight deposits within the framework of the 
possibilities opened up by the European Union. Cash flow 
hedging is used to cover exposure to variations in cash flow 
of financial assets or liabilities, direct underwriting or future 
transactions. It is used in particular to hedge rate risks on 
revisable rate assets and liabilities, including their renewal, 
and the exchange risk on future revenue highly probable 
in foreign currencies. Net investment hedging in foreign 
currencies is a special type of cash flow hedging.

The Group documents the relationship between the 
instrument hedged and the hedging instrument, as soon 

as the hedging relationship is set up. This documentation 
includes the management objectives of the hedging rela-
tionship, the nature of the risk covered, the underlying 
strategy, an identification of the hedging instrument and 
of the item covered, as well as the methods of measuring 
the effectiveness of the hedge.

The group assesses that effectiveness when the hedging 
relationship is first set up then throughout its lifespan, at 
least at each closing date. 

The ineffective part of the hedge is recognised in the 
profit and loss account under the item “ net income or 
losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss”.

Fair value hedging
The part corresponding to the rediscount of the deriva-

tive financial instruments is entered in the income state-
ment under the item “Income from interest and interest 
charges – Hedging derivative instruments” symmetrically 
to the income from interest or interest charges relating to 
the item covered.

In the case of a fair value hedging relationship, the deri-
vatives are valued at their fair value in compensation of the 
income statement under the item “net income and losses 
on financial instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss” symmetrically to the re-evaluation of the risk of items 
covered in results. This rule also applies if the item covered 
is entered into the accounts at the depreciated cost or if it 
is a financial asset classified as an asset available for sale. If 
the hedging relationship is perfectly effective, the variation 
in the fair value of the hedging instrument compensates for 
that of the item covered.

The hedge must be considered as “highly effective” to 
be able to qualify for hedge accounting. The variation of 
the hedging instrument at fair value or in cash flow must 
practically compensate for the variation of the item cove-
red at fair value or in cash flow. The ratio between these 
new variations must be situated in the range from 80% to 
125%.

In the event of an interruption to the hedging rela-
tionship or the failure to meet the effectiveness criteria, 
hedge accounting ceases to be applied on a prospective 
basis. The hedging derivative instruments are transferred to 
transaction instruments and are entered into the accounts 
according to the principles applicable to that category. 
The value in the balance sheet of the item covered is no 
longer adjusted afterwards to reflect the variations in fair 
value, and the adjustments accumulated under the hed-
ging treatment are depreciated over the residual life of the 
item hedged. If the items hedged are no longer included 
in the balance sheet as a result in particular of early reim-
bursement, the adjustments accumulated are immediately 
entered in the income statement.
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 Fair value hedging by portfolio  
of the interest rate risk
The modifications made by the European Union to the 

IAS 39 rule in October 2004 allow clientele sight deposits 
to be included in portfolios of fixed rate liabilities. 

For each portfolio of assets or liabilities, the bank checks 
that there is no overhedging and this for each pillar and on 
each closing date. 

The portfolio of liabilities has maturity dates set accor-
ding to the selling off rules defined by the balance sheet 
management.

The fair value variations of the interest rate risk of port-
folios of hedged instruments are recorded in a specific 
line in the balance sheet “Purchase price discrepancy of 
rate hedged portfolios” by compensation of the income 
statement.   

Cash flow hedging
In the case of a cash flow hedging relationship, the gains 

or losses of the hedging instrument considered as effective 
are recorded in a specific line in the shareholders’ equity, 
“unrealised or deferred gains or losses on cash flow hed-
ging”, whereas the part considered as ineffective is recor-
ded in the income statement under the item “Net income 
or losses on financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss”.

The amounts recorded in shareholders’ equity are entered 
again in the results under the item “Income from interest 
and interest charges” at the same pace as the flows of the 
item hedged affect the results. The items hedged continue 
to be accounted for in accordance with the rules specific 
to their accounting category.

In the event of an interruption to the hedging rela-
tionship or the failure to meet the effectiveness criteria, 
hedge accounting ceases to be applied. The total amounts 
entered in shareholders’ equity under the revaluation of the 
hedging derivative are maintained in shareholders’ equity 
until the transaction hedged itself affects the result or when 
it is determined that it will not be realised. These amounts 
are then transferred to the results. 

Note 1.3.5 Debts represented by a security 

Debts represented by a security (bank-issued medium-
term notes, interbank market securities, debenture loans…), 
not classified at fair value through profit or loss on option, 
are entered into the accounts at their issue value, generally 
minus the transaction costs. 

These debts are then valued at the depreciated cost 
according to the effective interest rate method. 

Certain “structured” debt instruments may include 
embedded derivatives. These embedded derivatives are 

separated from the host contracts as long as the separation 
criteria are met and they can be valued in a reliable way. 

The host contract is eventually entered into the accounts 
at the depreciated cost. The determination of the fair 
value is based on the quoted market price or on valuation 
models. 

Note 1.3.6 Subordinated debts

Subordinated debts, forward or undetermined duration, 
are separated from the other debts represented by a secu-
rity, for their reimbursement in the event of the liquidation 
of the debtor is only possible after paying off the other 
creditors. These debts are valued at the depreciated cost.

Note 1.3.7 Distinction between Debts 
and Shareholders’ Equity

According to the IFRIC 2 interpretation, the members’ 
shares are shareholders’ equity if the entity has an uncon-
ditional right to refuse reimbursement or if there are legal 
or statutory provisions forbidding or strongly limiting such 
reimbursement. As a result of the existing legal and statutory 
provisions, the capital shares issued by the structures making 
up the consolidating entity of the Credit Mutuel Group are 
entered into the accounts as shareholders’ equity.

The other financial instruments issued by the Group are 
qualified for accounting purposes as debt instruments as 
long as there is a contractual obligation for the Group to 
deliver funds to the holders of securities. This is the case in 
particular for all the subordinated securities issued by the 
group.

Note 1.3.8 Provisions for contingencies

Charges to and writebacks of provisions for contingencies 
are classified by nature in the corresponding expense and 
income items.

A provision is constituted when it is likely that an expen-
diture of resources representative of economic advantages 
will be necessary to extinguish an obligation born of a past 
event and when the amount of the obligation may be relia-
bly estimated. The amount of this obligation is updated if 
necessary to determine the amount of the provision. 

The provisions constituted by the Group cover in parti-
cular:
– operational risks;
– employee commitments;
– risks of non-execution of commitments;
– disputes and liability guarantees; 
– tax risks; 
– risks linked to home ownership savings. 
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Note 1.3.9 Debts on the clientele 
and on the credit institutions

These debts are fixed or determinable income finan-
cial liabilities. They are recognised at their market value 
when they are entered into the balance sheet, and are then 
valued at the following closing dates at the depreciated 
cost using the effective interest rate method, except for 
those that have been recognised at fair value on option. 

u Regulated savings contracts

The CEL (home ownership savings account) and the 
PEL (home ownership savings plan) are French regula-
ted products available to the clientele (physical persons). 
These products feature a remunerated savings phase that 
entitles the saver to a home loan in a second phase. They 
generate two types of commitments for the distributing 
establishment:
– a commitment to the future remuneration of the savings 
at a fixed rate (on the PEL only, as the rate of remuneration 
of CELs can be counted as variable rate, being periodically 
revised according to an indexation formula);
– a commitment to grant a loan to the customers who ask 
for one, at predetermined conditions (PEL and CEL).

These commitments have been estimated on the basis 
of behavioural statistics concerning the customers and 
market data. A provision is constituted in the balance sheet 
liabilities in order to cover the future charges relating to the 
potentially unfavourable conditions of these products, com-
pared to the interest rates offered to the clientele of private 
individuals for products that are similar, but not regulated 
in terms of remuneration. This approach is conducted by 
homogeneous generation in terms of regulated PEL and 
CEL conditions. The impacts on the results are entered 
among the interest paid to the clientele. 

Note 1.3.10 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents including the cash accounts, 
deposits and demand loans with central banks and credit 
institutions.

Within the framework of the statement of cash flows, 
OPCVM collective investment funds are classified as an “ope-
rational” activity and are therefore not restated as cash.

Note 1.3.11 Employee benefits 

Employee benefits are entered into the accounts accor-
ding to the IAS 19 rule. Employee commitments are the 
subject, where appropriate, of a provision entered under 
the item “Contingency and loss provision”. Its variation is 

entered in the income statement under the item “employee 
expenses”.

 Post-employment schemes  
with defined benefits
This refers to retirement, pre-retirement and complemen-

tary retirement schemes in which the group retains a for-
mal or implicit obligation to provide the benefits promised 
to the personnel.

The commitments are calculated according to the pro-
jected unit credit method, which consists of allocating the 
benefit entitlement to periods of service in application of 
the contractual formula for the calculation of the scheme’s 
benefits, then updated on the basis of demographic and 
financial hypotheses such as:
– the discount rate, determined by reference to the long-
term rate of government loans according to the length of 
the commitments,
– the rate of increase in salaries, measured according to 
age group, management/non-management categories and 
regional characteristics, 
– inflation rates, estimated by comparison between the rate 
of the OAT (French treasury bond) and the OAT inflated for 
the different maturities, 
– the rate of employee mobility, determined by age group, 
on the basis of the mean ratio over 3 years of the number 
of resignations and dismissals in relation to the number of 
employees on permanent contracts present at the end of 
the financial year,
– retirement age: the estimation is drawn up by individual 
on the basis of the effective starting date of working life 
and hypotheses relating to the Fillon Law, with a maximum 
ceiling at 65 years,
– the mortality rate according to INSEE table TH/TF 00-02.

The differences generated by the changes in these hypo-
theses and by the differences between the previous hypo-
theses and realisations constitute actuarial gains/losses. 
When the scheme has assets, these are valued at fair value 
and impact the result for their expected yield. The diffe-
rence between the actual yield and the expected yield also 
constitutes an actuarial gain/loss. 

The Group has opted for the immediate recognition of 
actuarial gains/losses exceeding the corridor (beyond 10% 
of the highest value between the present value of the gross 
commitment to the benefits at the closing date and the fair 
value of the scheme’s assets) in the income statement for 
the financial year in the form of provisions, without sprea-
ding over the residual period of activity of the employees. 
Reductions and winding up of schemes generate a variation 
in the commitment, which is entered into the income sta-
tement for the financial year. 
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 Complementary pension plans depending  
on pension funds
The AFB interim agreement dated September 13th, 1993 

modified the retirement schemes of banking institutions. 
Since January 1st,1994, the banks have been members of 
the Arrco and Agirc national funds. The four pension funds 
of which, according to the case, the banks in the Group are 
members, continue to exist and pay the different charges 
provided for in the interim agreement out of their reser-
ves, which are topped up if necessary by additional annual 
contributions paid by the banks concerned and whose 
average rate over the next ten years is limited to 4% of 
payroll. The pension funds’ commitments are the subject 
of a full estimation every two years by an actuary, the last 
one having been carried out at the end of 2006.

 Other post-employment benefits  
with defined benefits
Long-service benefits paid on retirement and the pension 

supplements, including the special schemes, are provisio-
ned. They are assessed on the basis of vested rights for all 
employees still working, according in particular to the staff 
turnover rate of the personnel specific to the consolidated 
entities and the estimated future salary that the beneficiary 
will have when he retires, increased where applicable by 
the social contributions. The long-service benefits paid 
on retirement by the Group’s banks in France are covered 
for at least 60% by an insurance policy with ACM Vie, the  
Credit Mutuel Group’s insurance company and consolida-
ted by global integration.

 Post-employment benefits  
with defined contributions
The entities in the group contribute to various pension 

schemes run by organisations independent of the group, 
for which they retain no formal or implicit obligation to 
make supplementary payments, in particular if it is disco-
vered that the funds’ assets are not sufficient to meet its 
commitments. 

As these schemes do not represent commitments for the 
group, they are therefore not the subject of a provision. 
The charges are entered into the accounts in the financial 
year during which the contribution must be paid. 

Long-term benefits
These are benefits due, other than the post-employ-

ment ones and end-of-contract payments, payable more 
than twelve months after the end of the financial year 
during which the personnel rendered the corresponding 
services, such as for example work medals, time savings 
accounts…

The Group’s commitment to other long-term benefits is 
calculated according to the projected unit credit method. 

However, the actuarial gains/losses are immediately reco-
gnised in the results for the period, as the corridor method 
is not authorised.

Commitments to work medals are sometimes covered 
by insurance contracts. Only the non-covered part of this 
commitment may be the subject of a provision.

CARMUT
The personnel of the CEE/SE/IDF and SMB Group has 

benefited since January 1st, 2006, on top of the obligatory 
retirement schemes, from the benefits served by the Caisse 
de Retraite du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe (CARMUT, 
the Credit Mutuel pension fund), a jointly run organisation 
classified in the category of supplementary pension insti-
tutions. The CARMUT is a pre-funded plan and manages 
two schemes, a points-defined contribution scheme and a 
defined benefits scheme of the additive type. The contri-
butions and premiums are paid in full by the employers. 
The special technical provisions entered on the liabilities 
side of the CARMUT’s balance sheet for all the participants, 
amount respectively on December 31th, 2006 to 419.2 
million euro for the points fund, and to 57 million euro for 
the additive funds. The actuarial valuation of the defined 
benefits scheme is done by an independent firm of actua-
ries according to the unit cost by year of service method. 
The hedging of the commitments of this scheme is done in 
return for an annual premium called from the employers, 
equal to 1.70% of payroll and entered in the charges for 
the financial year. The CARMUT, which is governed by 
the Social Security Code, was set up in the interests of the 
beneficiaries and is jointly managed. The economic benefits 
go only to members and decision-making powers, shared 
between Management and the employees’ representatives, 
may only be exercised in the interests of the beneficiaries. 
The CARMUT is not therefore taken into account in the 
IFRS scope of consolidation as regards the consolidation 
criteria laid down by IAS 27 based essentially on the notion 
of control or influence. 

Early Retirement of Salaried Employees (CATS)
A framework agreement on the application in the CIC 

Group of the company’s early retirement scheme was 
signed on June 27th, 2001. The CIC and most of the 
regional banks have introduced this agreement. It enables 
the beneficiaries to retire 2 to 3 years before their normal 
retirement date whilst receiving an allowance of between 
57.5% and 65% of their salary. It was possible to join this 
scheme until March 31th, 2006. The total future charge is 
the subject of an estimation over the whole duration of this 
commitment. This charge is provisioned in a straight-line 
configuration between the date of entry into force of the 
agreement (approval of the Labour Minister) and the date 
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from which the employee may opt for this agreement. 
In view of the limited duration of this agreement, no dis-
counting of the future flows has been carried out nor does 
it take account of future employee pay rises. The portion 
of potential beneficiaries who will opt for this scheme has 
been estimated entity by entity.

End-of-contract payments
These payments result from the benefit granted by the 

group when a contract of employment is terminated before 
the normal retirement age or following an employee’s deci-
sion to leave voluntarily in exchange for an indemnity.

These provisions are discounted as soon as their payment 
is expected to be more than twelve months after the clo-
sing date.

Short-term benefits
These are benefits payable within twelve months of the 

end of the financial year other than end-of-contract pay-
ments, such as salaries, social security contributions and 
certain bonuses.

A charge is entered under these short-term benefits for 
the financial year during which the services giving rise to 
these benefits have been rendered to the company.

Note 1.3.12 Insurance activities 

The accounting principles and the valuation rules speci-
fic to the assets and liabilities generated by the issuing of 
insurance policies, including reinsurance contracts issued 
or subscribed, and financial contracts containing a discre-
tionary profit-sharing clause (which grants the subscribers 
of contracts the right to receive, on top of the guaranteed 
remuneration, a portion of the financial results realised) are 
drawn up in accordance with the IFRS 4 rule. 

The other assets held and liabilities issued by the insu-
rance companies consolidated by global integration follow 
the rules common to all the Group’s assets and liabilities. 
The financial assets representing the technical provisions 
related to unit-linked contracts are thus presented under 
“Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” and the 
corresponding assets and liabilities valued on the closing 
date at the realisation value of the reference medium.

Furthermore, the contracts subject to IFRS 4 continue 
to be entered into the accounts and consolidated as in 
the French standards and are valued and entered into the 
accounts according to the same rules with the exception 
of a few limited restatements, in particular those relating 
to the elimination of regulatory equalisation provisions and 
to the accounting of deferred profit-sharing in accordance 
with the principles of the French regulation applied to the 
differences in the valuation of the assets. These are mainly 

provisions for deferred profit-sharing relating to unrealised 
capital gains and losses entered into the accounts on the 
assets side according to IAS 39 (which corresponds, accor-
ding to IFRS 4, to the application of “shadow accounting”: 
in order to reflect the share of these unrealised capital gains 
and losses, “the discretionary profit-sharing element”, enti-
rely in the provisions and not in shareholders’ equity) 

Apart from the various provisions charged and written 
back in the liabilities, the other transactions generated by 
these contracts are valued and entered into the accounts 
according to the same rules. This concerns in particular 
contract acquisition costs, receivables and debts arising 
out of contracts, advances on policies and recourse and 
subrogations resulting from insurance and reinsurance 
contracts.

At the closing date, a liability sufficiency test accoun-
ted for in these contracts (net of other related assets or 
liabilities such as acquisition costs carried forward and 
the portfolio securities acquired) is carried out: it checks 
that the liabilities entered into the accounts are sufficient 
to cover the future cash flows estimated at this date. Any 
insufficiency of the technical provisions is recognised in 
the results of the period (and will be written back at a later 
date if necessary).

The tax-free capitalisation reserve constituted in the indi-
vidual accounts of the French companies as a result of the 
sale of amortisable transferable securities, with the aim of 
deferring a part of the net capital gains earned in order to 
maintain the actuarial yield of the portfolio constituted to 
represent the contractual commitments, is cancelled in the 
consolidated accounts. The movements of the financial year 
affecting this reserve, recognised by the result in the indi-
vidual accounts, are cancelled in the consolidated income 
statement. In application of IAS 12 a deferred tax liability 
was recognised relating to the effective reclassification as 
shareholders’ equity of the capitalisation reserve. On the 
other hand, where there is a high likelihood of allocation 
to the insurees, in particular to take account of insurees’ 
rights under some of the Group’s entities’ insurance port-
folios, deferred profit-sharing is entered into the accounts 
following the restatement of the capitalisation reserve.

Note 1.3.13 Fixed assets 

The fixed assets entered in the balance sheet include the 
tangible and intangible operating fixed assets as well as 
investment property. The operating fixed assets are used for 
the purposes of production of services or for administrative 
purposes. Investment property is immovable property held 
for rent and/or to increase the capital invested. It is recor-
ded in the same way as the business premises, according 
to the historical cost method.
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Fixed assets are entered into the accounts at their acquisi-
tion cost plus any expenses directly relevant and necessary 
to their return to working order in view of their use. The 
borrowing costs incurred during the construction or the 
adaptation of the immovable property are not activated.

After initial entry, the fixed assets are valued according to 
the historical cost method, that is to say at their cost minus 
the total depreciation and any losses in value.

When a fixed asset consists of several components that 
could be subject to replacement at regular intervals, as they 
have different uses or produce economic benefits at a diffe-
rent pace, each item is entered into the accounts separately 
from the outset and each of the components is depreciated 
according to its own depreciation plan. The components-
based approach has been chosen for the business premises 
and investment property.

The amortisable amount of a fixed asset is determined 
after deduction of its residual value net of the removal 
costs. The useful life of fixed asset generally being equal to 
the expected economic life of the asset, no residual value 
is recognised. 

Fixed assets are depreciated over the expected useful 
life of the asset for the company according to its own esti-
mated rate of consumption of the economic benefits. As 
intangible fixed assets have an undetermined useful life, 
they are not depreciated.

The depreciation provision concerning the operating 
fixed assets is entered into the accounts under the item 
“Depreciation provisions/writebacks and provisions of ope-
rating fixed assets” in the income statement.

The depreciation provisions concerning investment 
property are entered into the accounts under the item 
“Charges for other activities” in the income statement

The ranges of depreciation periods used are:

Tangible fixed assets:
– Land, utilities, networks: 15-30 years
– Constructions – shell and structure: 20-80 years 
(depending on the type of property concerned)
– Constructions – fittings: 10-40 years
– Fittings and installations: 5-15 years
– Furnishings and office equipment: 5-10 years
– Safety equipment:  3-10 years
– Vehicles:  3-5 years
– IT equipment:  3-5 years

Intangible fixed assets:
– Software acquired or created in-house: 1-10 years
– Goodwill acquired: 9-10 years

(if acquisition of a portfolio of clientele contracts)
Amortisable fixed assets are subject to depreciation tests 

when the closing dates for the loss of value indices are 

identified. Non-amortisable fixed assets (such as leases) are 
subject to a depreciation test once a year.

If there is such a depreciation index, the recoverable 
value of the asset is compared to its net book value. If 
there is a loss of value, a depreciation is recognised in the 
income statement; it modifies the amortisable base of the 
asset prospectively. The depreciation is written back if there 
is any change to the estimation of the recoverable value or 
disappearance of the depreciation indices. The net book 
value after writeback of the loss of value may not be higher 
than the net book value which would have been calculated 
if no loss of value had been entered.

Depreciation concerning the operating fixed assets is 
entered into the accounts under the item “Provisions/wri-
tebacks of provisions for depreciation of operating fixed 
assets” in the income statement. 

Depreciation concerning the investment property are 
entered into the accounts under the item “Charges for 
other activities” (for the provisions) and “Income from 
other activities” (for the writebacks) in the income state-
ment. 

The capital gains and losses on the sale of operating fixed 
assets are recorded in the income statement on the line 
“Net income or losses on other assets”. 

The capital gains and losses from the sale of investment 
property are recorded in the income statement on the 
line “Income from other activities” or “Charges for other 
activities”.

Note 1.3.14 Tax on profit or loss 

The taxes on the profit or loss include all the taxes based 
on the profit or loss, payable or deferred.

The tax liability on the profits or losses is calculated accor-
ding to the tax regulations in force.

u Deferred tax

In application of IAS 12, deferred taxes are recognised on 
the temporary differences between the tax value and the 
book value of the items in the consolidated balance sheet, 
with the exception of goodwill.

Deferred tax is calculated according to the variable 
carryover method with reference to the rate of corporation 
tax known at the end of the financial year, and applicable 
during the following  financial years. 

Assets net of the deferred tax liability are recognised when 
their likelihood of use is high. The tax payable or deferred 
is entered into the accounts as income or an expense, with 
the exception of those relating to unrealised or deferred 
income or losses entered as shareholders’ equity, for which 
the deferred tax is allocated directly to this item. 
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Deferred tax assets or liabilities are compensated for 
when they have their origin in the same entity or tax group, 
depend on the same tax authority, and when there is a 
legal right of compensation. 

Deferred tax is not the subject of discounting.

Note 1.3.15 Interest covered by the State 
on certain loans 

As part of measures to aid the agricultural and rural sec-
tor, as well as home acquisition, certain entities in the group 
grant loans at reduced rates fixed by the government. 
Consequently, these entities receive from the government 
a bonus equal to the rate differential that exists between 
the rate granted to the clientele and a predefined reference 
rate. As a result, no loss of value is recognised on the loans 
benefiting from these bonuses.

The arrangements concerning this compensation mecha-
nism are regularly re-examined by the government.

The bonuses received from the state are recorded under 
the item “Interest and related income” and spread over 
the duration of the corresponding loans, in accordance 
with IAS 20.

Note 1.3.16 Financial guarantees 
and financing 
commitments 

Financial guarantees are assimilated with an insurance 
policy when they provide for specific payments to be made 
to reimburse its holder for a loss that he has incurred as a 
result of the default of a debtor specified to make a payment 
on a due date under the terms of a debt instrument. 

In accordance with IFRS 4, these financial guarantees 
continue to be valued according to the French standards, 
namely off balance sheet, until a complement to the stan-
dard comes into effect to complete the current system. 
Consequently, these guarantees are the subject of a provi-
sion in the liabilities in the event of a probable expenditure 
of resources.

On the other hand, financial guarantee contracts which 
provide for payments in response to the variations of a 
financial variable (price, rating or credit index…) or of a 
non-financial variable, as long as in this case the variable is 
not specific to one of the parties to the contract, enter into 
the scope of application of IAS 39. These guarantees are 
then dealt with like derivative instruments. 

Financing commitments that are not considered as deri-
vative instruments in the sense of IAS 39 do not feature in 
the balance sheet. They are, however, the subject of provi-
sions in accordance with the provisions of IAS 37.

Note 1.3.17 Operations 
in foreign currencies 

Assets and liabilities made out in a currency other than 
the local currency are converted at the exchange rate on 
the closing date. 

u  Monetary financial  
assets or liabilities 

Exchange gains or losses arising out of these conversions 
can be entered into the income statement under the item 
“net income or losses on portfolio at fair value through 
profit or loss “.

u  Non-monetary financial  
assets or liabilities

Exchange gains or losses arising out of these conversions 
can be entered into the income statement under the item 
“net income or losses on portfolio at fair value through pro-
fit or loss” if the item is classed at fair value through profit 
or loss or among the unrealised or deferred gains or losses 
when they are available-for-sale financial assets.

When consolidated securities in foreign currencies are 
financed by a loan in the same currency, the latter with be 
the subject of cash flow hedging.

Note 1.3.18 Non-current assets 
intended to be sold 
and activities abandoned

A non-current asset (or group of assets) meets the criteria 
of definition of assets intended for sale if it available for sale 
and if its sale is highly likely and will take place within the 
next twelve months. 

Related assets and liabilities are presented on two sepa-
rate lines on the balance sheet under the items “non-cur-
rent assets intended to be sold” and “debts relating to 
non-current assets intended to be sold”. They are entered 
into the accounts at the lowest of either their book value 
or their fair value minus the transfer costs and are no linger 
depreciated.

When a loss in value is observed on this type of asset and 
liability, a depreciation is recorded in the result.

Activities are considered as abandoned when they are 
activities intended to be sold, activities that have been 
stopped and subsidiaries which were acquired only with a 
view to being sold. They are presented on a separate line 
in the statement under the item “net tax income and losses 
on abandoned activities”.
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Note 1.3.19 Judgments and estimations 
used in the drawing up 
of the financial statements

Drawing up the financial statements at December 31th, 
2006 requires the formulation of hypotheses in order to 
make the valuations necessary and includes risks and uncer-
tainties concerning their realisation in the future.

Future realisations may be influenced by several factors, 
in particular:
– the activities of national and international markets,
– fluctuations in interest and exchange rates,
– the economic and political situation in certain sectors of 
activity or countries,
– changes to regulations or legislation.

Accounting estimations requiring the formulation of hypo-
theses are used mainly for the following evaluations:
– unlisted financial instruments valued at their fair value, 
– retirement schemes and other future social benefits,
– durable capital losses,
– provisions on depreciated receivables,
– provisions for contingencies and loss,
– depreciation on intangible assets and goodwill.

Note 1.3.20 Standards and interpretations 
adopted by the European Union 
not yet applied

Standards IAS / IFRS Name  Date Consequences 
 of the standard  of application of application 

IFRS 

All the IFRSs adopted by the European Union are applied by the Group

IFRIC

IFRIC 4 Determine if an agreement Application obligatory 
 contains a lease as of January 1st, 2007

IFRIC 5 Entitlement to interest  Application obligatory Non concerned 
 emanating from management  as of January 1st, 2007 
 funds dedicated to  
 the dismantling restoration or  
 rehabilitation of the environment  

IFRIC 6 Treatment of the liabilities Application obligatory Non concerned 
 linked to the entity’s participation as of January 1st, 2007  
 in a specific market  
 (electrical and electronic  
 equipment) 

IFRIC 7 Practical arrangements for restating Application obligatory Non concerned 
 financial statements according as of January 1st, 2007  
 to IAS 29 (financial information  
 in economies with hyper-inflation)

IFRIC 8 Scope of application of IFRS 2 Application obligatory Non concerned 
   as of January 1st, 2007

IFRIC 9 Re-examination of embedded Application obligatory Impact not significant 
 derivatives in a host contract as of January 1st, 2007   
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Note 2 Breakdown of the balance sheet 
and income statement by activities 
and geographical zones

The activities are as follows:
– The retail bank includes the branches of Crédit Mutuel 

Centre Est Europe, the regional banks of the CIC as well 
as the all the specialised activities in which the network is 
involved: real estate leasing, factoring, collective manage-
ment, employee savings schemes,property.

– The insurance business consists of the Assurances du 
Crédit Mutuel Group, plus La Pérennité.

– The financing and market activities cover:
a. the financing of large companies and institutional 

clients, specialised financing, the international market and 
foreign subsidiaries;

b. the market activities in the wider sens, that is the acti-
vities cocerning interest and exchange rates and shares, 

whether they are exercised on behalf of the clientele or for 
own account, including stock market intermediation.

– The private banking activities include the companies 
whose main activities it is, both in France and abroad.

– A development capital activity exercised for own 
account and financial engineering constitute one sector 
of the business.

– The holding structure includes elements that cannot be 
assigned to another activity (holding) as well as the logistics 
structures: the intermediate holdings, the operating pro-
perty lodged in specific entities and the IT entities.

The consolidated entities are allocated fully to their main 
activity on the basis of their contribution to the consolida-
ted accounts. Only two entities form an exception, the CIC 
and the BFCM due to their presence in several activities. In 
this case, the compagny accounts have been subjected to 
an analytical breakdown. The balance sheet is broken down 
in the same way.

Information on the balance sheet  
and income statement items (in millions of euro) 
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Breakdown of the balance sheet by activity

Assets 2006

 Retail Insurance Financing Private Development Structure Total
 bank  and markets bank capital and holding

Cash, Central banks, CCP – Assets 1,235 0 2,537 248 0 962 4,982

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 746 11,635 52,186 297 1,271 929 67,064

Derivative hedging instruments – Assets 1,112 31 113 90 0 0 1,346

Available-for-sale financial instruments 503 36,196 9,096 9,803 275 1,319 57,191

Loans and receivables on credit institutions 19,440 12 25,665 1,494 3 1,747 48,361

Loans and receivables on clientele 132,222 407 12,675 3,525 0 335 149,165

Financial assets held until maturity 282 6,781 390 3 0 0 7,457

Holdings in associated companies 105 71 0 0 0 0 176

Liabilities 2006

 Retail Insurance Financing Private Development Structure Total
 bank  and markets bank capital and holding

Central banks, CCP – Liabilities 0 0 0 387 0 0 387

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 628 6 25,270 49 0 671 26,624

Derivative hedging instruments – Liabilities 1,073 0 77 256 0 0 1,406

Debts to credit institutions 18,893 0 45,129 2,056 0 1,158 67,236

Debts to clientele 81,236 73 3,319 11,583 0 198 96,409

Debts represented by a security 12,996 0 58,815 18 0 299 72,128

Breakdown of the income statement by activity

2006 IRFS

 Retail Insurance Financing Private Development Structure Inter Total
 bank  and markets bank capital and holding activities

Net banking income 4,592 988 888 392 335 625 - 389 7,433

Overheads - 3,020 - 303 - 321 - 233 - 34 - 543 389 - 4,064

Gross operating profit 1,573 686 567 160 302 82  3,369

Cost of risk - 169 0 32 - 5 - 1 0  - 143

Income from other assets1 17 12 0   8  37

Pre-tax profit or loss 1,421 697 599 155 300 90  3,262

Corporation tax - 465 - 223 - 163 - 37 - 1 - 45  - 934

Net accounting profit or loss 955 474 436 118 299 45 0 2,328

Non-controlling interests        311

Net profit or loss group share        2,017

1. Including net profit/loss of associated entities and losses in value on goodwill.

u

u
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u
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2005 IFRS

 Retail Insurance Financing Private Development Structure Inter Total
 bank  and markets bank capital and holding activities

Net banking income 4,477 851 58 331 248 513 - 336 6,141

Overheads - 2,943 - 287 - 289 - 208 - 26 - 401 336 - 3,818

Gross operating profit 1,534 563 - 231 123 222 112 0 2,323

Cost of risk - 158 0 23 - 4 1 0  - 138

Income from other assets1 16 9 0  0 6  31

Pre-tax profit or loss 1,392 573 - 208 119 223 118  2,217

Corporation tax - 450 -192 76 - 24 3 - 19  - 606

Net accounting profit or loss 942 380 - 132 95 226 99 0 1,610

Non-controlling interests        196

Net profit or loss group share        1,414

1. Including net profit/loss of associated entities and losses in value on goodwill.

Breakdown of the balance sheet by geographical zone

Assets

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

 France Europe Other  Total France Europe Other Total
  excl. France countries1   excl. France countries1

Cash, Central banks, CCP – Assets 4,729 249 3 4,982 5,138 268 2 5,408

Financial assets at fair  
value through profit and loss 61,350 3,493 2,222 67,065 65,443 2,023 3,060 70,526

Derivative hedging  
instruments – Assets 1,273 71 3 1,346 697 20 5 722

Available-for-sale financial  
instruments 44,969 9,755 2,467 57,191 38,945 10,430 1,280 50,655

Loans and receivables  
on credit institutions 45,913 1,515 933 48,360 44,180 1,013 1,208 46,401

Loans and receivables on clientele 141,897 5,078 2,190 149,165 117,774 3,884 1,890 123,549

Financial assets held until maturity 7,112 345 0 7,457 859 249 0 1,108

Holdings in associated companies 142 0 34 176 115 0 34 149

1. USA, Singapore and Tunisia. 

◆
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2005 IFRS

 Retail Insurance Financing Private Development Structure Inter Total
 bank  and markets bank capital and holding activities

Net banking income 4,477 851 58 331 248 513 - 336 6,141
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◆
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Liabilities

	 December	31th,	2006	 December	31th,	2005

	 France	 Europe	 Other		 Total	 France	 Europe	 Other	 Total
	 	 excl.	France	 countries1	 	 	 excl.	France	 countries1

Central banks, CCP – Liabilities 0 386 0 387 0 0 0 0

Financial liabilities at fair value  
through profit and loss 18,898 7,667 59 26,624 28,516 4,668 11 33,194

Derivative hedging  
instruments – Liabilities 1,168  237 1 1,406 654 547 2 1,203

Debts to credit institutions 74,180 - 9,707 2,763 67,236 56,705 - 1,154 2,997 58,549

Debts to clientele 84,519 11,417 473 96,409 78,825 10,200 452 89,477

Debts represented by a security 58,773 9,045 4,309 72,128 45,008 2,663 3,764 51,435

1. USA, Singapore and Tunisia.

Breakdown	of	the	income	statement	by	geographical	zones

	 December	31th,	2006	 December	31th,	2005

	 France	 Europe	 Other		 Total	 France	 Europe	 Other	 Total
	 	 excl.	France	 countries1	 	 	 excl.	France	 countries1

Net banking income 6,945 406 82 7,433 5,769 294 78 6,141

Overheads - 3,826 - 193 - 45 - 4,064 - 3,606 - 172 - 40 - 3,818

Gross	operating	profit	 3,119	 212	 38	 3,369	 2,163	 122	 38	 2,324

Cost of risk - 141 - 7 5 - 143 - 153 11 4 - 138

Income from other assets2 33 0 4 37 29 0 2 31

Pre-tax	profit	or	loss	 3,010	 205	 47	 3,262	 2,040	 133	 44	 2,217

Overall net profit or loss 2,123 170 35 2,328 1,467 108 35 1,610

Net	profit	or	loss	Group	share	 1,837	 149	 31	 2,017	 1,284	 98	 31	 1,414

1. USA, Singapore and Tunisia.

2. Including net profit/loss of associated entities and losses in value on goodwill.

◆
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Liabilities
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◆
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Note 3 Composition of the scope 
of consolidation

In accordance with the opinion of the Banking 
Commission, the parent company of the Group consists of 
the compaies included in the scope of the consolidation. 
The entities that make it up are:
– the Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe 
(FCMCEE),
– the Fédération du Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est (FCMSE),
– the Fédération du Crédit Mutuel d’Ile-de-France 
(FCMIDF),
– the Fédération du Crédit Mutuel de Savoie-Mont Blanc 
(FCMSMB),
– the Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe 
(CFCMCEE),

– the Caisse Régionale du Crédit Mutuel Sud-Est 
(CRCMSE),
– the Caisse Régionale du Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France 
(CRCMIDF),
– the Caisse Régionale du Crédit Mutuel de Savoie-Mont 
Blanc (CRCMSMB),
– the Caisses de Crédit Mutuel members of the Fédération 
du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe,
– the Caisses de Crédit Mutuel members of the Fédération 
du Crédit Mutuel Sud-Est,
– the Caisses de Crédit Mutuel members of the Fédération 
du Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France
– the Caisses de Crédit Mutuel members of the Fédération 
du Crédit Mutuel de Savoie-Mont Blanc
– the Cautionnement Mutuel de l’Habitat (CMH)

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

 % Control % Interest Method1  % Control % Interest Method1

Banking network

 Banque de l’Economie du Commerce et de la Monétique 99 94 IG 99 94 IG 
 Banque du Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France (BCMI) 100 96 IG 100 96 IG 
CIC Banque CIO-BRO 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Banque de Tunisie 20 18 ME 20 18 ME 
CIC Banque Régionale de l’Ouest (BRO)   FU 100 89 IG 
CIC Banque Scalbert Dupont-CIN 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Bonnasse Lyonnaise de Banque (BLB) 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC CIAL Invest (ex: CIAL Finance) 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC CIC Nord-Ouest gestion (ex: Bourgtheroulde patrimoine) 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Crédit Fécampois 89 78 IG 89 79 IG 
CIC Crédit Industriel d’Alsace-Lorraine (CIAL) 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Crédit Industriel de Normandie (CIN)   FU 100 89 IG 
CIC Crédit Industriel et Commercial (CIC) 92 88 IG 93 89 IG 
CIC Lyonnaise de Banque (LB) 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Société Bordelaise de CIC (SBCIC) 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Société Nancéienne Varin Bernier (SNVB) 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Sofim 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Sud-Est Gestion (ex: Lyonnaise de Gestion et de Patrimoine) 100 88 IG 100 89 IG

Subsidiaries of the banking network

 Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel 23 23 ME 22 22 ME 
 SCI La Tréflière 100 98 IG 100 98 IG 
 SOFEMO - Société Fédérative Européenne 
 de Monétique et de Financement 100 93 IG 100 93 IG 
 CM-CIC Asset Management (ex: Crédit Mutuel Finance) 83 79 IG 82 79 IG 
CIC Bail Ouest   FU 100 89 IG 
CIC CIAL Equipement   FU 100 89 IG 
CIC CIC Epargne salariale  100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC CM-CIC Bail (ex: Bail Equipement) 99 88 IG 99 88 IG 
CIC CM-CIC Lease 100 92 IG 100 92 IG 
CIC Factocic 51 48 IG 51 49 IG 
CIC Imofinance 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Laviolette Financement 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Saint-Pierre SNC 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC SNVB Financements 100 88 IG 100 89 IG
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 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

 % Control % Interest Method1  % Control % Interest Method1

Financing and market operations banks

 Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel 96 96 IG 96 96 IG 
 Ventadour Investissement 100 96 IG 100 96 IG 
CIC Cigogne Fund 100 83 IG 100 86 IG 
CIC Cigogne Management 100 92 IG 100 92 IG 
CIC CM-CIC Securities  100 88 IG 100 89 IG

Private banks

CIC Banque CIAL Suisse 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Banque de Luxembourg 100 90 IG 100 91 IG 
CIC Banque Pasche 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Banque Pasche Monaco 100 88 IG 100 87 IG 
CIC Banque Transatlantique 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Banque Transatlantique Belgium 100 86 IG 100 87 IG 
CIC Banque Transatlantique Jersey 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC BLC Gestion  100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Dubly-Douilhet 62 55 IG 63 56 IG 
CIC Mutuel Bank Luxembourg 90 84 IG 90 84 IG 
CIC Transatlantique Finance 100 88 IG 100 89 IG

Development capital

CIC CIC Finance  100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC CIC Investissement (ex: CIC Capital Développement) 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC CIC Investissement Alsace (ex: Finances et Stratégies) 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC CIC Investissement Est (ex: SNVB Participations) 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC CIC Investissement Nord (ex: CIC Régions Expansion) 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC CIC Lyonnaise de Participations 100 87 IG 100 88 IG 
CIC Financière Armen 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Financière Voltaire 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Institut de Participations de l’Ouest (IPO) 77 68 IG 77 68 IG 
CIC Vizille (Banque de) 98 86 IG 98 87 IG 
CIC Vizille Capital Finance 100 86 IG 100 87 IG 
CIC Vizille Capital Innovation 100 86 IG 100 87 IG

Structure and logistics

 CMCP - Crédit Mutuel Cartes de Paiement 50 49 IG 50 48 IG 
 Euro Information 75 73 IG 72 71 IG 
 Euro Information Développement 100 73 IG 100 74 IG 
 EIP (ex: GTOCM) 100 100 IG 100 100 IG 
CIC Adepi 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC CIC Information   FU 100 81 IG 
CIC CIC Migrations 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC CIC Participations 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC CIC Production GIE   NC 100 89 IG 
CIC Cicor 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Cicoval 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC CM-CIC Mezzanine 90 78 IG 90 79 IG 
CIC Efsa 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Gesteurop 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Gestunion 2 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Gestunion 3 100 88 IG 0 0 NC 
CIC Gestunion 4 100 88 IG 0 0 NC 
CIC Impex Finance 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Marsovalor 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Pargestion 2 100 88 IG 100 89 IG
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 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

 % Control % Interest Method1  % Control % Interest Method1

CIC Pargestion 3 100 88 IG   NC 
CIC Pargestion 4 100 88 IG   NC 
CIC Pargestion 5 100 88 IG 0 0 NC 
CIC Placinvest 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Sofiholding 2 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Sofiholding 3 100 88 IG   NC 
CIC Sofiholding 4 100 88 IG 0 0 NC 
CIC Sofinaction 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Sudinnova 50 43 IG 49 43 IG 
CIC Ufigestion 2 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Ufigestion 3 100 88 IG   NC 
CIC Ugépar Service 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Valimar 2 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC Valimar 3 100 88 IG   NC 
CIC Valimar 4 100 88 IG   NC 
CIC VTP 1 100 88 IG 100 89 IG 
CIC VTP 5 100 88 IG 100 89 IG

Insurance companies

 La Pérennité 21 20 ME 21 20 ME 
GACM ACM IARD 96 71 IG 96 70 IG 
GACM ACM Nord IARD 49 36 ME 49 36 ME 
GACM ACM Vie 100 74 IG 100 73 IG 
GACM ACM Vie, Société d’Assurance Mutuelle 100 100 IG 100 100 IG 
GACM Assurances du Sud 99 73 IG 99 73 IG 
GACM Astree 30 22 ME 30 22 ME 
GACM Atout Assurance   FU 100 91 IG 
GACM Euro Protection Services 100 74 IG 100 73 IG 
GACM Foncière ACM (ex: ACM Retraite) 89 65 IG 89 64 IG 
GACM Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel (GACM) 79 74 IG 78 73 IG 
GACM ICM Life 100 74 IG 100 73 IG 
GACM ICM Ré 100 71 IG 100 70 IG 
GACM Immobilière ACM 100 74 IG 100 73 IG 
GACM MTRL 100 100 IG 100 100 IG 
GACM Partners 100 74 IG   NC 
GACM Procourtage 100 74 IG 100 73 IG 
GACM SCI Socapierre 97 72 IG 96 71 IG 
GACM Sérénis 0 0 FU 100 73 IG 
GACM Sérénis Vie (ex: Télévie) 100 74 IG 100 73 IG 
GACM Suravenir Assurances 34 25 ME 34 25 ME

Other companies

GACM ACM GIE 100 74 IG 100 73 IG 
GACM ACM Services 100 74 IG 100 73 IG 
GACM Massena Property 100 74 IG   NC 
GACM Massimob 100 71 IG   NC 
GACM SA Saint Germain 78 58 IG 78 57 IG 
GACM SCI ADS 100 73 IG 100 72 IG 
GACM SNC Foncière Massena 94 69 IG   NC

CIC = Company belonging to the Compagnie Financière CIC subgroup.
GACM = Company belonging to the Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel subgroup.
1. Method:
IG = Global Integration.
IP = Proportional Consolidation.
ME = Equity accounting.
NC = Not Consolidated.
FU = Merged.
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Note 4 Cash, Central banks, CCP
Loans and receivables on credit institutions

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Cash, Central banks, CCP

Central banks incl. obligatory reservess 2,310 2,261

Cash, CCP 520 504

Total 4,982 5,409

Loans and receivables on credit institutions

Crédit Mutuel network accounts 9,123 8,248

Other ordinary accounts 2,069 2,071

Loans 4,784 7,268

Other recivables 9,482 4,543

Securities unlisted on an active market 369 6,873

Pensions 22,250 17,212

Receivables depreciated on an individual basis 20 29

Related accounts receivable 273 171

Provisions - 9 - 15

Total 48,360 46,400

Note 5 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Securities 62,592 57,983 
– Government securities 22,763 23,466 
–  Bonds and other fixed income securities 27,889 20,482

Listed 27,413 19,798
Unlisted 476 684

–  Shares and other variable income securities 11,940 14,035
Listed 10,805 13,041
Unlisted 1,135 993

Derivative transaction instruments 3,810 5,628

Other financial assets 662 6,914 
– Incl. pensions 0 5,998

Total 67,065 70,525

Note 6 Derivative hedging instruments

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Cash flow Hedge 13 9 3 13 
– Var. in value recorded in shareholders equity 0 0 0 0 
– Var. in value recorded in results 13 9 3 13

Fair value hedging (var. recorded in results) 1,332 1,397 719 1,191

Total 1,346 1,406 722 1,204



�� l l �� �� l l �� 

Note 6a Analysis of derivative instruments

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

 Notional Assets Liabilities Notional Assets Liabilities

Derivative transaction instruments

Interest rate instrument 
– Swaps 353,074 1,831 2,404 606,782 1,631 1,433 
– Other futures contracts 16,784 8 0 58,591 17 0 
– Options and conditional instruments 48,941 247 148 47,878 196 160

Exchange rate instrument 
– Swaps  30 27  25 41 
– Other futures contracts 159 827 717 143 737 616 
– Options and conditional instruments 2,821 20 19 3,982 22 23

Other than interest and exchange rate 
– Swaps 41,488 47 91 34,415 79 23 
– Other futures contracts 4,799 0 5 27,642 0 0 
– Options and conditional instruments 19,619 800 820 66,278 2,920 3,273

Sub-total 487,685 3,810 4,232 845,711 5,627 5,569

Derivative transaction instruments

Fair Value Hedge 
– Swaps 11,784 1,286 1,397 7,119 719 1,191 
– Options and conditional instruments 45 47  47 0

Cash Flow Hedge 
– Swaps 250 11 9 82 1 13 
– Options and conditional instruments 0 11  0 1

Sub-total 12,079 1,355 1,406 7,248 721 1,204

Total 499,764 5,165 5,638 852,959 6,348 6,773

Note 7  Available-for-sale financial assets

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Government securities 328 763

Bonds and other fixed income securities 49,100 44,322 
– Listed 48,812 43,996 
– Non Listed 288 326

Shares and other variable income securities 5,593 3,969 
– Listed 5,312 3,741 
– Non Listed 281 228

Long-term investments 1,923 1,332 
– Equity investments 1,317 949 
– Other securities held long term 411 291 
– Shares in related companies 195 93

Related accounts receivable 247 269

Total 57,191 50,655

Including listed equity investments 631 419



�� l l �� �� l l �� 

Note 8 Loans and receivables on clientele

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Sound debts 141,747 116,681

Trade receivables 5,022 4,799

Other lending to clientele 136,241 111,390 
– home loans 76,717 60,574 
– other lending and miscellaneous receivables incl. pensions 59,524 50,817

Related accounts receivable 369 257

Securities not listed on an active market 116 235

Debts depreciated on an individual basis 4,379 4,533

Provisions - 2,907 - 3,051

Sub-total 1 143,219 118,163

Finance leasing (net investment) 5,844 5,469

Movables 3,754 3,403

Immovables 1,963 1,946

Debts depréciated on an individual basis 127 119

Provisions - 90 - 82

Sub-total 2 5,754 5,387

Debts arising out of reinsurance operations 192

Total 149,165 123,550

– incl. equity loans 2 2 
– incl. subordinated loans 12 16

Finance leasing operations with clientele

 Opening Acquisition Sale Others Closure

Gross book value 5,469 746 - 354 - 19 5,844

Depreciation of non-recoverable lease revenue - 82 - 30 22 2 - 90

Net book value 5,387 716 - 331 - 17 5,754

Breakdown by duration of future lease revenue receivable under finance leasing operations

 < 1 year > 1 year  > 5 years Total
   and < 5 years

Minimum future lease revenue receivable 1,600 3,217 906 5,723

Capitalised value of future lease revenue 1,467 3,067 894 5,428

Non-acquired financial income 133 150 12 295

u

u
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Note 9 Revaluation surplus of interest rate hedged portfolios
Description of the assets and liabilities covered and the hedging instruments

 Fair value Variation 
  in fair value

 December December
 31th, 2006 31th, 2005

Fair value of interest rate risk by portfolio

Of financial assets 13 17 - 4

Of financial liabilities 121 189 - 68

Note 10 Financial assets held until maturity

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Securities 7,454 1,099 
– Government securities 215 701 
–  Bonds and other fixed income securities 7,239 398

Listed 6,889 136
Non Listed 350 262

Related accounts receivable 6 12

Gross total 7,460 1,111

Provisions for depreciation - 3 - 3

Net total 7,457 1,108

Note 11 Variation in provisions for depreciation

 December Provision Writeback Others December
 31th, 2005    31th, 2006

Loans and receivables credit institutions - 15 - 1 3 3 - 9

Loans and receivables on clientele - 3,051 - 739 772 111 - 2,907

ASF securities (“available for sale”) - 264 - 8 4 20 - 248

HTM securities (“held to maturity”) - 3 0 0 0 - 3

Total - 3,333 - 748 778 134 - 3,167
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Note 12a Current tax

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Assets (by result) 706 409

Liabilities (by result) 413 444

Note 12b Deferred tax

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Assets (by result) 445 447

Assets (by shareholders’ equity) 8 12

Liabilities (by result) 591 554

Liabilities (by shareholders’ equity) 96 74

Note 13 Prepayments and accrued income

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Prepayments and accrued income

Payments received 6,740 6,238

Currency adjustment accounts 58 74

Accrued income 546 655

Various elimination accounts 1,549 1,924

Sub-total 8,893 8,891

Other assets

Settlement accounts/securities operations 910 1,242

Other debtors 5,061 5,157

Stock and similar 5 4

Other uses - 8 - 8

Sub-total 5,967 6,395

Other insurance assets

Receivables from insurance and reinsurance 371 232

Deposits with credit institutions 0 0

Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions 0 254

Sub-total 371 486

Total 15,232 15,772
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Note 14 Stakes in associated companies
Share in the net profit/loss of associated companies

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

 Value Share Value  Share
 of assd in profit/loss of assd in profit/loss
 companies  companies 

Banque de Tunisie 34 4 34 2

La Pérennité 19 1 15 1

CCCM 71 8 58 5

Subsidiaries of the GACM subgroup 52 10 43 8

Total 176 23 150 16

Note 15 Investment property

 Amount Increase Reduction Other Amount 
 at beg.    variations at beg.
  of fin. year    of fin. year

Historic cost 765 394 - 4 0 1,155

Amortisation and depreciation - 101 - 2 1 1 - 101

Net amount 664 392 - 3 1 1,054

Note 16 Tangible fixed assets

Reference treatment

 Amount Increase Reduction Other Amount 
 at beg.    variations at beg.
  of fin. year    of fin. year

Historic cost

Land for operations 339 4 0 17 362

Constructions for operations 2,204 240 - 52 38 2,440

Other tangible fixed assets 1,526 224 - 236 8 1,523

Total 4,069 468 - 288 64 4,324

Amortisation and depreciation

Constructions for operations - 1,038 - 111 38 - 16 - 1,131

Other tangible fixed assets - 1,070 - 160 138 0 - 1,091

Total - 2,108 - 271 177 - 15 - 2,222

Net amount 1,961 197 - 111 48 2,102

u
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Including property leased under finance leasing operations

 Opening Acquisition Sale Other Closure

Land for operations 45 0 0 0 45

Constructions for operations 49 3 - 5 0 47

Total 94 3 - 5 0 92

Breakdown by minimum future lease payments to be made under finance leasing

 < 1 year >1 year  > 5 years Total
  and < 5 years  

Minimum future lease payments 13 26 0 39

Capitalised value of these future lease payments 13 25 0 38

Financial charges not entered 0 1 0 1

Note 17 Intangible fixed assets

 December Acquisitions Sales Other December
 31th, 2005   variations 31th, 2006

Historic cost

Fixed assets acquired 322 48 - 25 11 356 
– software 1 0 0 0 1 
– other 321 48 - 25 11 355

Total 322 48 - 25 11 356

Amortisation and depreciation

Fixed assets acquired - 174 - 31 23 3 - 196 
– software - 1 0 0 0 - 1 
– other - 173 - 31 23 3 - 195

Total - 174 - 31 23 3 - 196

Net amount 148 17 - 1 14 160

Note 18 Goodwill

 Amount Increase Reduction Other December
 at beg.    variations 31th, 2006
  of fin. year    

Gross goodwill 861 0 0 46 908

Depreciations - 273 0 0 2 - 271

Net goodwill 588 0 0 48 637

u

u
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Details of goodwill

Subsidiaries Value of  Increase Reduction1 Variation Value of 
 goodwill at   depreciation goodwill at
 December    December
  31th, 2005    31th, 2006

CIC Group 509  - 12  497

IPO 21    21

Pérennité 19    19

Banque du Luxembourg 13    13

Groupe ACM 8 60   68

Banque Transatlantique 6    6

Banque Pasche 3    3

Others  9   1 10

Total 588 60 - 12 1 637

1. Sale of securities outside Group.

Note 19 Central banks, CCP
Debts to credit institutions

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Central banks, CCP

Central banks 386 0

CCP 0 0

Total 387 0

Debts to credit institutions

Loans 1,869 1,468

Other debts 19,865 19,703

Pensions 44,899 37,021

Related accounts payable 603 357

Total 67,236 58,549

Note 20a Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Financial liabilities held for transaction purposes 19,223 21,692

Financial liabilities at fair value on option through profit or loss 7,401 11,503

Total 26,624 33,195

u
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Note 20b Financial liabilities held for transaction purposes

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Short selling of securities 
– Government securities 0 0 
– Bonds and other fixed income securities 13,208 13,707 
– Shares and other variable income securities 1,124 2,014

Derivative transaction instruments 4,232 5,569

Other financial liabilities held for transaction purposes  660 403

Total 19,223 21,693

Note 21 Debts to clientele

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Special regime savings accounts 43,971 41,621 
– sight 25,559 22,673 
– forward 18,411 18,947

Related accounts payable on savings accounts 50 55

Sub-total 44,020 41,676

Ordinary accounts 31,953 30,336

Forward accounts and term loans 19,236 15,856

Pensions 1,017 1,527

Related accounts payable 110 83

Sub-total 52,389 47,802

Total 96,409 89,478

Note 22 Debts represented by a security

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Interest bearing notes 285 255

TMI and TCN 46,545 37,097

Debenture loans 24,649 13,617

Related accounts payable 648 466

Total 72,128 51,435
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Note 23 Accruals and deferred income

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Accruals and deferred income

Accounts unavailable on recovery operations 6,254 5,923

Currency adjustment accounts 844 273

Accrued expenses 800 697

Other elimination accounts 2,394 2,042

Sub-total 10,292 8,935

Other liabilities

Settlement accounts/operations on securities 936 1,865

Payments still to be made on securities 35 40

Créditeurs divers 3,211 4,132

Sub-total 4,182 6,037

Other insurance liabilities

Debts due to insurance and reinsurance operations 0 100

Debts to credit institutions 0 79

Deposits and sureties received 81 4

Sub-total 81 183

Total 14,555 15,155

Note 24 Technical provisions of insurance policies

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Life 45,199 42,000

Non-life 1,793 1,681

Units of account 5,535 4,393

Other 199 203

Total 52,727 48,277
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Note 25 Provisions for contingencies and loss

 Opening Provisions Provisions Provisions Other  Closing
 balance of the year of the year of the year  variations balance
   (provision  (provision
   used) unused)

Provisions for pension commitments 207 18 - 69 0 - 1 155

Provisions for contingencies 285 136 - 100 1 14 335

Other 315 60 - 94 4 - 18 267

Total 807 214 - 264 5 - 5 757

Pension commitments and similar benefits

 Opening Provisions Writebacks Other Closing 
  balance of the year of the year  variations balance 
variations  clôture

Pension commitments  
with defined benefits  
and similar excl. pension funds

Long service payments made on retirement 55 10 - 8 - 2 55

Pension supplements 52 3 - 1 - 2 52

Bonuses linked to the work medal  
(other long-term benefits) 34 1 0 - 3 31

Sub-total 141 14 - 9 - 6 138

Complementary pension schemes  
with defined benefits insured  
by the group’s pension funds

Commitments to employees and retirees 40 0 - 9 - 22 9

Fair value of assets

Sub-total1 40 0 - 9 - 22 9

Commitments under early  
retirement schemes

Commitments 28 5 - 6 - 18 8

Sub-total 28 5 - 6 - 18 8

Total 207 18 - 24 - 46 155

1.The funds’ assets include 35 000 CIC shares.

The assumptions made for the calculation of the pension commitments and similar are a discount rate equal to the long-
term rate observed observed on the government bon market through the TEC 10. The differential between the discount 
rate and estimated future increase in salaries is 1.1%. 
This rate was 1.4% in the last financial year.
The assumptions regarding employee’s retirement dates are reviewed every year with regard to the regulatory conditions. 
The AFB industry-wide agreement of March 29th, 2005 was integrated into this review.
The previous commitments concern only the CIC Group, as the Crédit Mutuel commitments are outsourced.

u
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Insufficiency of pension fund reserves

 Opening Effect of Financial  Partial Actuarial Payments to Subsidies Closure
   updating income liquidation gains/losses beneficiaries received

Commitments 130 4  - 6 - 17 - 47  64

Fund’s assets 109  3 - 6 9 - 47 3 71

Deferred actuarial gains/losses 12       12

Provisions 33 4 - 3 0 - 26 0 - 3 5

Foreign subsidiaries 6 4 - 4  5  - 7 4

Total 39 8 - 7 0 - 21 0 - 10 9

Only the CIC is concerned – the CEE subsidiaries not being dealt with by Carmut, entity not consolidated.

Note 26 Subordinated debts

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Subordinated debts 3,746 3,052

Equity loans 156 156

Fixed duration subordinated debts 1,897 1,923

Other debts 0 0

Related accounts payable 88 111

Total 5,887 5, 242

Main subordinated debts

 Type Date Amount Amount Rate Maturity
  Issued Issued at end of year 

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel TSR  85 millions euro 85 millions euro 5.75% November 17th, 2007

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel TSR  50 millions euro 50 millions euro 5.40% June 29th, 2011

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel TSR  700 millions euro 700 millions euro 6.50% July 19th, 2013

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel TSR  800 millions euro 800 millions euro 5.00% September 30th, 2015

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel TSS  1,600 millions euro 1,600 millions euro  not fixed

CIC TSR  300 millions euro 300 millions euro 1 July 19th, 2013

CIC TSR  350 millions dollars 350 millions dollars  September 30th, 2015

CIC Equity May 28th, 1985 137 millions euro 137 millions euro 2 3

CIC TSDI June 11th, 1997 191 millions euro 191 millions euro 4

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel TSR December 19th, 2006 1,000 millions euro 1,000 millions euro 5 December 19th, 2016

1. 3 month Euribor 3 rate + 89.5 base points.

2. Minimum 85% (TAM+TMO)/2 Maximum 130% (TAM+TMO)/2.

3. Non-amortisable, but reimbursable as the borrower wishes as from May 28th, 1997  
at 130% of teh nominal amount revalued by 1.5% per year for future years.

4. Rate fixed at 6.60% until 2007, then 3 month Euribor + 2.25%.

5. 3 month Euribor 3 rate + 25 base points.

u

u
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Insufficiency of pension fund reserves
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Note 27 Shareholders equity - group share

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Capital 3,429 3,323

Consolidated reserves 8,684 7,282
– Regulated reserves 5 6 
– Regulated reserves - 9 17 
– Other reserves (incl. bills linkedto the first application) 8,707 7,296 
– Carryover - 20 - 37

Total 12,113 10,605

Profit/loss of the year 2,017 1,414

Sub-total 2,017 1,414

Unrealised or deferred income or losses1 relating to: 
– assets available for sale 692 403 
– hedging derivatives (CFH) 0 0

Sub-total 692 403

Total 14,822 12,422

1. Balances net of CT.

The Caisses de Crédit Mutuel have a share 
capital consisting of:

– Unassignable “Part A” type shares,
– marketable “Parts B” type sharess,
– “Parts P” type priority interest-bearing shares.

“Parts B” may only be subscribed by members holding 
at least one “Part A”. The articles of association of the local 
Caisses limit the subcription of “Parts B” per member to 
35,000 euro (with the exception of the reinvestment of 
dividends paid in “Parts B”). The capital may not be less, 
following the withdrawal of contributions, than one quarter 
of the highest amount reached by the capital in the past. 
If this limit were to be reached, the reimbursement of the 
shares would be suspended.

The “Parts B” repurchase system differs accor-
ding to whether they were subscribed before or after 
December 31th, 1988:
– shares subscribed before December 31th, 1988 may be 
reimbursed at the member’s request for the January 1st, of 
each year. This reimbursement, which takes place subject to 
compliance with the regulations concerning the reduction 
of the capital, is subject to at least 3 months’ notice.
– shares subscribed after January 1st, 1989 may be reim-
bursed at the member’s request with 5 years’ notice, except 

u in the event of marriage, death or unemployment. These 
operations are also subject to compliance with the regula-
tions concerning the reduction of the capital.

The Caisse may, after a decision by the Board of Directors 
and in agreement with the Supervisory Board, and in the 
same conditions, reimburse all or a part of the shares in 
this category.

Moreover, the Crédit Mutuel Caisse “Cautionnement 
Mutuel de l’Habitat”, a mutual loan security company, has 
been issuing priority interest-bearig shares known as “Parts 
P” since 1999. The subscription of “Parts P” is reserved for 
the distributors of secured loans outside the CEE Group.

 Au 31 décembre 2006, le capital des Caisses  
de Crédit Mutuel se répartit comme suit

– 108,8 million euro to the title of “Part A”, against 
90,9 million euro at December 31th, 2005,
– 3 221,2 million euro to the title of “Part B”, against  
3 131,2 million euro at December 31th, 2005,
– 99,8 million euro to the title of “Part P”, against 101,2 mil-
lion euro at December 31th, 2005.

u
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Note 28 Commitments given and received

Commitments given

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Financing commitments

Commitments to credit institutions 1,722 1,954 
Commitments to clientele 34,727 30,789

Guarantee commitments

Commitments on orders from credit institutions 835 1,109 
Commitments on orders from clientele 12,846 11,708

Commitments on securities

Securities acquired with return option 0 0 
Other commitments given 942 1 691

Commitments given on the insurance activity 353 253

Commitments received

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Financing commitments

Commitments received from credit institutions 1 17

Guarantee commitments

Commitments received from credit institutions 15,894 12,156

Commitments on securitiess

Securities sold with buyback or return option 0 0 
Other commitments received 517 1,466

Commitments received from the insurance activity 6,640 6,144

Note 29 Interest and similar income/charges

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

 Income Charges Income Charges

Credit institutions & central banks 3,252 - 4,089 1,796 - 2,614

Clientele 5,911 - 1,969 4,945 - 1,658

Finance leasing  1,924 - 1,691 1,876 - 1,644

Financial assets/liabilities at fair value  
on option through profit or loss 0 0 0

Derivative hedging instruments 732 - 757 3,059 - 3,271

Financial assets available for sale 758 0 685

Financial assets held to maturity 34 0 66

Debts represented by a security 0 - 2,339  - 1,461

Subordinated debts 0 - 114  - 94

Total 12,611 - 10,960 12,427 - 10,742

u
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Note 30 Commission

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

 Income Charges Income Charges

Credit institutions 14 - 7 14 - 6

Clientele 755 - 18 669 - 13

Securities 752 - 59 644 - 52

Deivative instruments 7 - 9 14 - 27

Foreign exchange  25 - 9 25 - 12

Finance and guarantee commitments 23 - 2 19 - 3

Provision of services 948 - 734 900 - 661

Total 2,525 - 839 2,285 - 774

Note 31 Net income or gain on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Transaction instruments 1,955 962

Instruments at fair value on option 363 441

Ineffective hedging 59 - 89

Gain/loss from foreign exchange operations 30 80

Total variations in fair value 2,406 1,394

incl. transaction derivatives 750 - 1,151

Note 32 Net income or gain on available-for-sale financial assets

 December 31th, 2006

 Dividends Gains/losses Depreciation Total
  made 

Government securities, bonds  
and other fixed income securities  15 0 15

Shares and other variable income securities 12 88 2 102

Long-term investments 55 61 - 6 111

Other 0 0 0 0

Total 67 164 - 4 227

 December 31th, 2005

 Dividends Gains/losses  Depreciation Total
  made 

Government securities, bonds  
and other fixed income securities  77 1 78

Shares and other variable income securitie 11 37 1 49

Long-term investmentss 22 123 - 3 142

Other 0 0 0 0

Total 33 237 - 1 269
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Note 33 Income/charges from other activities

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Income from other activities

Insurance policies 10,232 9,653 
– Premiums acquired 7,869 7,308 
– Net income from investments 2,332 2,321 
– Technical and non-technical income 31 24

Investment property  1 1 
– Capital gain on sale 0 1

Other income 385 368

Sub-total 10,615 10,022

Charges from other activities

Insurance policies - 9,071 - 8,585 
– Charges for services - 4,020 - 3,727 
– Variation in provisions - 5,068 - 4,881 
– Technical and non-technical charges 17 22

Investment property: - 12 - 2 
– Provisions/provision for depreciation (according to treatment chosen) - 12 - 2

Other charges - 71 - 150

Sub-total - 9,154 - 8,737

Total other net income / other net charges 1,463 1,285

1. Incl. contingent rent.

Note 34a General operating expenses

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Personnel costs - 2,457 - 2,309

Other charges  - 1,607 - 1,508

Total - 4,064 - 3,817

Note 34b Personnel expenses

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Wages and salaries - 1,481 - 1,374

Social contributions - 665 - 658

Employee profit-sharing - 182 - 137

Salary taxes and similar payments - 152 - 143

Other 27 3

Total - 2,457 - 2,309
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Average workforce

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Bank technicians 23,141 23,063

Management 13,540 13,234

Total 36,681 36,297

Note 34c Other operating expenses

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Taxes and other contributions - 243 - 195

External services - 1,024 - 998

Other charges (transports, travelling …) - 32 - 30

Total - 1,300 - 1,223

Note 35 Provision/writeback on depreciation and provisions
for tangible and intangible fixed assets

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Amortisation: - 312 - 295 
– Tangible fixed assets - 280 - 281 
– Intangible fixed assets - 32 - 14

Depreciations: 5 9 
– Tangible fixed assets 6 10 
– Intangible fixed assets - 2 - 1

Total - 307 - 286

Intangible fixed assets include lease rights in particular. These are estimated for an undetermined duration.
For this reason, they are not depreciated. Like the other fixed assets, they are subject to depreciation tests.

Note 36 Cost of risk

 Provisions Writebacks Irrecoverable Irrecoverable Recovery Total
    debts  debts not on debts
   covered covered  written off

Credit institutions - 1 4 - 2 0 0 2

Clientele - 720 853 - 260 - 31 23 - 134 
– Finance leasing - 3 7 - 5 - 5 1 - 5 
– Other clientele - 716 846 - 255 - 26 22 - 129

Sub total - 720 857 - 262 - 31 23 - 133

HTM - DJM 0 0 0 0 0 0

AFS - DALV - 4 6 - 1 0 0 1

Other - 73 61 0 0 0 - 12

Total - 796 924 - 263 - 31 23 - 143

u
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Note 37 Income or losses from other assets

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Tang. and intang. fixed assets 14 15 
– Loss on sale - 12 - 14 
– Capital gain on sale 26 29

Capital gain/loss on consolidated securities sold 0 0

Total 14 15

Note 38 Variations in the value of goodwill

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Depreciation goodwill 0 0

Negative goodwill entered in the results 0 0

Total 0 0

Note 39 Tax on profits

Breakdown of the tax charge

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Tax charge payable - 873 - 607

Deferred tax charge - 73 - 6

Adjustments for previous financial years 12 7

Total - 934 - 606

The CIC, the regional banks and the main subsidiaries in which a minimum stake of 95% is held set up a tax integration 
group.
Each regional bank that is a member of the integrated Group constitutes with its own subsidiaries a conventional 
subgroup.

Reconciliation between the tax charge entered into the accounts and the theoretical tax charge

 December 31th, 2006

Theoretical tax rate 34.4%

Impact of the SCR and SICOMI special regimes - 2.5%

Impact of the reduced rate on long-term capital gains - 1.2%

Impact of the specific tax rates for foreign entities - 0.3%

Permanent offset - 0.6%

Tax credits 0.0%

Other - 1.0%

Effective tax rate 28.8%

Taxable profit/loss 3,239

Tax charge 934

u
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Note 40 Fair value of financial instruments 
entered into the accounts 
at the depreciated cost

The fair values presented are an estimation based on 
observable parameters at December 31th, 2006. They are 
based on a present value calculation of future flows estima-
ted from a rate curve which does not include the signature 
cost inherent to the debtor.

The financial instruments presented in this informa-
tion are the lending and borrowing. They do not include 
non-monetary items (shares), supplier accounts and the 
accounts of other assets, other liabilities and the elimination 
accounts. Nonfinancial instruments are not concerned by 
this information.

The fair value of the financial instruments payable on 
sight and regulated savings contracts of the clientele is the 
value payable to the client, that is to say its book value.

Certain entities in the Group may also apply hypotheses: 
the market value is the book value for contracts whose 
conditions refer to a variable rate or whose residual dura-
tion is one year or less.

We draw your attention to the fact that, apart from the 
financial assets held to maturity, the financial instruments 
entered into the accounts at the depreciated cost are not 
transferable or in practice are not sold before their maturity. 
As a result, the capital gains or losses are not recognised.

If, however, the financial instruments entered into the 
accounts at the depreciated cost were to be sold, the price 
of that sale might differ significantly from the fair value 
calculated at December 31th. 

December 31th, 2006 Balance sheet value Market value

Assets

Loans and receivables on credit institutions 48,360 47,640

Loans and receivables from clientele 149,165 148,895

Financial assets held until maturity 7,457 7,460

Liabilities

Debts to credit institutions 67,236 67,518

Debts to clientele 96,409 95,023

Debts represented by a security 72,128 72,248

Subordinated debts 5,887 5,722
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Note 41 Outstanding amounts of operations with related parties

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

 Companies  National Companies National
 consolidated Confederation consolidated  Confederation
 by equity  by equity
 accounting  accounting

Other assets

Loans, advances and securities 
– Loans and receivables on credit institutions 3,967 5,147 4,605 3,013 
– Loans and receivables on clientele 0 9 
– Securities 0 171 53 80

Other assets 0 0 5

Total 3,967 5,327 4,663 3,093

Liabilities

Deposits 
– Debts to credit institutions 630 1,199 2,765 838 
– Debts to clientele 0 0 
– Debts represented by a security 0 87  5

Other liabilities 0 3 11

Total 630 1,288 2,776 843

Financing and guarantee commitments

Financing commitments given 0 0

Guarantee commitments given 0 1,700  1,739

Financing commitments received 0 0

Guarantee commitments received 8 16

Profit/loss items relating to operations with related parties

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

 Companies  National Companies National
 consolidated Confederation consolidated  Confederation
 by equity  by equity
 accounting  accounting

Interest received 38 129 115 50

Interest paid - 29 - 16 - 101 - 5

Commission received 0 2  2

Commission paid - 3 - 26  - 9

Other income and charges 0 - 58  - 148

Overheads 0 - 3

Total 7 28 14 - 110

The National Confederation consists of the other regional federations of the Crédit Mutuel not affiliated to the CMCEE 
Group.
Relations with the parent companies mainly involve lending and borrowing as part of cash flow management.

u
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Note 42 Events after the closure 
of the accounts 
and other information

Between the date of closure of the accounts, 
December 31th, 2006, and the date of their communi-
cation, the only significant event is the acquisition of the 
Swiss privat bank Swissfirst Private Banking based in Zurich 
by CIC Private Banking-Banque Pasche. The private bank 
Swissfirst Private Banking wil be consolidated in 2007.

The consolidated accounts of the CMCEE Group closed 
on December 31th, 2006 were approved by the Board of 
Directors on March 22th, 2007

Note 43 Exposure to risks

The information relating to the exposure to risks required 
by IFRS 7 is presented in the chapter on risks in the mana-
gement report.
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Annuel report (in millions of euro)

This chapter includes in particular the information required by IFRS 7 on the risks relating to financial instruments.

Credit risks
Procedure

 The general organisation of credit risk  
within the Group

The general organisation of risk management distin-
guishes, in accordance with the regulations in force, 
between the loan granting system on the one hand and 
the monitoring and control of risks on the other.

Risk management is based on a common reference base 
which fixes the rules in use in the Group, granting proce-
dures, levels of delegations as well as commitment sur-
veillance procedures. 

The organisation of risk management with the Group is 
based on the knowledge of the customer,  the assessment 
of the risk, the taking of the commitment decision, the 
monitoring of commitments and the possible recovery.

Knowledge of the customer

Knowledge of the customer and the targeting of pros-
pects are based on the close links which have been woven 
by the Group’s regional structures with their regional eco-
nomic environment. The segmentation of the clientele and 
its division into several categories regarding risk orients 
commercial prospecting towards targeted customers. 

Knowledge of the customer is aided by an information 
system particularly rich in external information (access 
to databases) as well as internal information (analysis of 
accounting documents, the ways accounts operate and 
counterparty risks).

Knowledge of the customer also extends to that of his 
environment thanks to quality sector analyses and regularly 
updated sector documentation.  

Decision-making and delegation

The assessment of risk rests on analyses conducted accor-
ding to formalised processes taking into account clearly 
identified parameters; in accordance with the regulations, 
a second opinion is given beyond a certain commitment 
threshold. 

The commitment decision is differentiated according to 
market and rating in order to meet the needs of the clien-
tele whilst remaining in control of risk taking; it is based in 
particular on:
– a knowledge in real time of the consolidated risks of the 
counterparty and of the counterparty group across the 
scope,
– a weighting of products related to the nature of the credit 
risk and to the guarantee, 

u

u

u

– the customer rating,
– sector and profession-based expertise,
– clearly identified and automatic levels of delegation,
– the principle of the double view,
– rules regarding the ceilings on authorisations according 
to equity capital,
– remuneration whose correspondence to the risk profile 
and the consumption of equity capital takes the form of a 
grid of conditions correlated to the rating.

Customer rating

The internal customer rating system, common to all the 
entities of the CM-CIC Group has been in place since the 
beginning of the year 2003. Ratings are determined from 
either automatic algorithms (Network) or manual rating 
grids (Banque de Financement et d’Investissement).
Customer rating meets the following general principles:
– Unique: the method of determining the rating is the same 
for all the banks in the Group at national level.
– Exhaustive: the rating is calculated for each of the third 
parties identified in the information system.
– Automatic: the rating is determined automatically by the 
information system for the Network.
– Rating by market: third party customers are rated using 
an algorithm specific to their market of attachment (private 
market, professionals, businesses, etc.) according to their 
typology as defined within the information system: for pro-
fessionals and businesses, the algorithms take account of 
the counterparty’s sector of activity; for private individuals, 
the algorithm is divided into 10 distinct segments.
– Calculation of a rating for groups of third parties: the 
calculation of a “Group” rating allows the individual rating 
of each of the components of the Group to be weighted 
by the overall risk borne by the Group.
– Uniform restitution: 12 ratings common to all the mar-
kets have been defined: 9 classes of sound customers and 
3 classes of customers in default.
– Derating: the rating is recalculated every month (primary 
rating) and corrected on a day-to-day basis by the risk 
events arising (final rating).

Credit delegations are attributed to all the actors in the 
credit granting chain, from the account manager to the 
highest decision-making bodies. These delegations are 
attributed according to the rating of the customer or the 
group he belongs to, his market, the nature of the credits 
and guarantees. Decisions which are not delegated to 
the branches are taken by an ad hoc committee, with the 
most important decisions being taken by the joint Group 
committee. In accordance with the regulations, compliance 
with the regulatory limits is systematically checked at each 
Committee meeting, and decisions are also subject to 

u
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internal limits relating to the Group’s equity capital and a 
function of the rating of the counterparty or of the group 
it belongs to.

Commitment monitoring

Surveillance of commitments
Commitment monitoring is done by the national and 

regional structures through advanced risk detection sys-
tems, based on both external and internal criteria relating 
to how the account operates. These criteria aim to allow 
potential risks to be identified and dealt with in an automa-
ted, systematic and exhaustive way, before payment failure 
occurs. The system for monitoring major risks is organised 
at Group level and concerns the consolidated commitments 
of the counterparties and counterparty Groups across the 
whole scope.

Risk steering  
Risk steering aims to give all the actors in risk manage-

ment, from the executive and decision-making bodies to 
account managers, a quantitative and qualitative vision of 
their risks: in particular, it concerns the breakdown of the 
portfolio by type of credit, nature of customer, rating, on 
production, the division of risks, sector-based and by coun-
terparty, the regular examination of sensitive files and files 
classed as doubtful, whether provisioned or not.

u

The management of doubtful customers 
The system for classifying customers as doubtful is auto-

mated on the basis of regulatory criteria. Provisioned files 
are examined regularly and systematically in order to main-
tain an adequate level of provisions.

Recovery 

Debt recovery is organised on the basis of specific alerts 
at the different stages in the life of an account and auto-
matic operations which, according to the level of alert, 
will route the debts concerned towards an out-of-court 
settlement and/or doubtful/legal recovery. 

The recovery procedures are clearly broken down into 
three phases, namely: commercial regularisation, out-of-
court recovery and, where necessary, recovery through 
the courts.

Information with figures

Credits to clientele break down as follows:

In a globally favourable economic environment, the year 
2006 was characterised by a considerable growth in loans 
outstanding, a confirmation of the quality of the portfolio 
and the continued control of the cost of risk.

u

u

 December December Change Relative
 31th, 2006 31th, 2005  weight

Short-term credits 

Ordinary accounts in debit 5,644 5,608 1 % 4 %

Commercial receivables 3,491 3,386 3 % 2 %

Credit facilities 27,445 21,599 27 % 19 %

Export receivables 300 353 - 15 % 0 %

Medium and long-term credits

Equipment loans 21,429 18,785 14 % 15 %

Home loans 76,463 60,302 27 % 52 %

Leasing 5,679 5,319 7 % 4 %

Other credits 5,871 5,387 9 % 4 %

Gross total of outstanding loans to clientele1 146,322 120,739 21 % 100 %

1. Excluding doubtful debts, related accounts receivable and pensions.
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Exposure  

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Loans and credits 

Credit institutions 26,782 29,204

Clientele 152,162 126,682

Gross exposure 178,944 155,886

Provisions for depreciation  - 3,007 - 3,148

Credit institutions - 9 - 15

Clientele - 2,997 - 3,133

Net exposure 175,937 152,738

Financing commitments made

Credit institutions 1,722 1,954

Clientele 34,727 30,789

Guarantee commitments made

Credit institutions 835 1,109

Clientele 12,846 11,708

u

A quality portfolio 

A well rated clientele
On the 12-level internal ratings, customers rated in the 

top 8 categories represent 97% of the loans outstanding.

u An absence of significant country risk
The portfolio is exposed, except for some marginal 

exceptions, mainly in France or in the OECD countries.

The breakdown of sound outstanding credits to clientele by internal rating is as follows:

 December 31th, 2006

 in %

A + and A - 28 

B + and B - 36

C + and C - 23

D + and D - 10

E + 3

u
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A well diversified portfolio

A good diversification of counterparty risk: the 10 first 
customer groups (excl. interbank) represent less than 5% 
of the total commitments at December 31th, 2006. On 
December 31th, 2006, the CMCEE Group met the major 
risk ratio.

A good diversification of sector commitments with a 
significant absence of commitment in a particular sector: 

u this favourable situation is the result of a sector-based 
risk monitoring system that covers for example, sectors, 
which are in part cyclical (aerospace, shipbuilding…), 
in part sensitive (automotive equipment manufacturers, 
aerospace equipment manufacturers, road hauliers…) and 
finally affected by an unfavourable event (the poultry indus-
try…).

Distribution of credits by type of clientele

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

 in % in %

General publicc 69 59

Businesses 23 25

Large companies 5 10

Specialised financing 3 3

Other 0 3

The distribution of credits by type of clientele is based on the French entities in the Group.

The geographical distribution of clientele risks is as follows:

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

 in % in %

France 95 93

Europe excl. France 3 4

Other countries 2 3

Dispersion of risks to companies:

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Concentration of clientele risks

Commitments exceeding 300 millions euro 
– Number 33 28 
– Loans in millions euro 7,662 4,448 
– Off bal. sheet in millions euro 9,295 7,416 
– Securities in millions euro 5,543 1,319

Commitments exceeding 100 millions euro 
– Number 62 39 
– Loans in millions euro 9,749 5,667 
– Off bal. sheet in millions euro 12,772 9,964 
– Tecurities in millions euro 6,022 1,356

There are no major risks that exceed 25% of prudential equity.

u

u

u
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Sector-based distribution of risks 

 December 31th, 2006

 in %

Real estate 28

IT, research and services to businesse 22

Industry 16

Commerce 13

Construction 4

Finance, insurance 4

Transport and communication 4

Administration, education, health, social, cleaning 5

Hotel, catering 2

Agriculture 2

Non-broken down and others 0

Segmentation based on NAF codes returned by the risk unit of the Bank of France, done on the basis of the French 
entities.

Sovereign risks

 Loans outst. Provisions

Argentina 0.1 

Bosnia Herzegovina 0.1 

Congo 2.5 2.4

Ivory Coast 0.1 0.1

Gabon 3.3 2.8

Lebanon 0.1 0.1

Niger 0.4 0.2

Somalia 0.3 0.3

Venezuela 2.7 1.1

Sovereign risks at December 31th, 2006 9.6 7.0

These provisions concern only doubtful and contentious outstanding loans to government organisations in countries at 
risk.

u

u

Good control over the cost of risk

Doubtful debts amounted to 4,506 million euro at 
December 31th, 2006 as against 4,652 million euro at 
December 31th, 2005. These doubtful debts represent 3.0% 
of the credits compared to 3.7% at December 31th, 2005.

The rate of coverage of doubtful debts by the provisio-
ning of assets, excluding provisions for country risks and 

u collective provisions, was 63.5% at December 31th, 2006 
compared to 64.9% at December 31th, 2005.

The cost of established risk excluding collective provisions 
is 120 million euro or 0.08% of the gross outstanding cre-
dits at December 31th, 2006 (0.12% in 2005).
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Quality of risks

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Debts depreciated individually 4,506 4,652

Provisions for individual depreciation - 2,860 - 3,020

Collective debt provision - 137 - 113

Overall rate of cover 66.5% 67.4%

Rate of cover (individual provision only) 63.5% 64.9%

Interbank credits

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

Structure of outstanding interbank loans by rating 

AAA and AA + 3% 7%

AA and AA - 38% 30%

A + and A 52% 55%

A - and BBB + 6% 6%

BBB and below 1% 2%

Geographical distribution of interbank loans 

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

France 44% 87%

Europe excl. France 32% 8%

Other countries 24% 5%

Debt securities

The portfolios of securities are mainly concerned with market operations and only marginally fall within the scope of 
balance sheet management.

 December 31th, 2006 December 31th, 2005

 Book value Book value

Debt securities  

Government securities 23,313 24,930

Bonds 84,474 65,202

Derivative instruments 5,156 5,628

Pensions & securities lending 22,250 23,210

Gross exposure 135,193 118,970

Provisions for depreciation of securities - 18 - 3

Net exposure 135,175 118,967

u

u

u

u
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Balance sheet  
management risks

Function

For each of the banks in the Group, the role and the 
operating principles of balance sheet management are 
clearly defined:
– balance sheet management is identified as a function 
separate from the front office, with its own means; 
– its priority objective is to immunise the commercial mar-
gins against interest and exchange rate variations and to 
stabilise the results;
– it also aims to guarantee an instant and dynamic level of 
liquidity that enables the bank to meet its obligations and 
protects it from any possible crisis;
– it is not a profit centre, but a function at the service of the 
bank’s profitability and development strategy.

The Group’s balance sheet management cell contributes 
actively to the definition of commercial policy regarding 
clientele conditions, internal transfer rate rules, the design 
of new products for the clientele and it provides a perma-
nent link with the network’ of sales staff.

Organisation of the activity

The Group has opted for several years for a controlled 
decentralisation of the balance sheet management func-

u

u

tion. The group risk management and limits are referenced 
in a “group balance sheet management reference base” 
harmonised within the Credit Mutuel-CIC Group.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is generated by the Group’s commer-
cial business. It results from the differences in rate and 
reference indices between the uses and the resources. 
The analysis of interest rate risk also takes account of the 
volatility of the outstanding credits of products without a 
contractual maturity date and hidden options (early credit 
reimbursement options, extension options, options to use 
credit entitlements, etc.).

The management of the interest rate risk over all the ope-
rations resulting from the network’s activities is analysed 
and covered globally on the residual position in the balance 
sheet by operations known as macro-hedging. Operations 
involving high amounts or a particular structure may be the 
subject of specific hedging. Risk limits are set in relation to 
the annual provisional NBR of each bank and the Group.

Interest rate risk is mainly monitored through two indi-
cators: the fixed rate deficit after early reimbursements and 
the sensitivity of the NII (net interest income). 

NII sensitivity expressed as a % is calculated for a natio-
nal scenario (+/- 1% on the short and long-term rate, 
+/- 0.33% on inflation).

u

 2007  2008 2009

Impact on the net interest income in ME  
of a variation of + 100 bp in the rate curve  
and + 33 bp for inflation - 82  - 52 + 45

Scope excl. market operations

Breakdown of liabilities by residual maturity:

 < 3 months > 3 months > 1 year > 5 years Unspecified  Total
 and sight < 1 year < 5 years   duration 

Liabilities 

Central banks 386 0 0 0 0 386

Liabilities in FVO 4,747 2,558 87 0 0 7,392

Debts to credit institutionst 40,545 16,673 4,038 1,158 701 63,115

Debts to clientele 23,846 4,910 7,155 2,037 431 38,378

Debts represented by securities 29,452 13,615 17,415 11,363 250 72,095

Subordinated debts 30 323 1,285 3,348 1,612 6,599

The breakdown does not concern demand deposit accounts and loans payable on demand.
The balance sheet items are presented by contractual maturity date. 
Financial liabilities held for transaction purposes are intended to be sold before maturity. As a result, a liquidity schedule for these instruments 
is not relevant.

u
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Foreign exchange risk

Hedging in foreign currencies of operations with the 
clientele is done by each bank in the Group. The residual 
position in foreign currencies is very limited. The Group 
does not hold structural positions in foreign currencies 
with the exception of the capital allocation of its foreign 
branches. 

Share risks 
The share risks incurred by the Group are of different 

types:
The share portfolios held for transaction purposes amount 

to 2,964 million euro at December 31th, 2006 compared 
to 5,665 million at December 31th, 2005 and exclusively 
concern market operations, (cf. note 5 of the Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements).

Shares entered into the accounts at fair value through 
profit or loss on option concern development-capital with 

u 1,456 million euro and the investments of the insurance 
companies for 7,519 million (cf. note 5 of the Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements).

Shares classed as available-for-sale assets and various 
holdings represent outstanding amounts of 5,556 mil-
lion euro (including 4,844 million of insurance company 
investments) and 1,961 million euro respectively (cf. note 7 
of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements). 

Investment capital 

The development capital activity is mainly carried out 
through entities dedicated to this business with a portfolio 
entirely valued at fair value through profit or loss on option. 
The BFCM also has a few lines in development capital.

The investments are spread across almost 600 lines and 
concern mainly small and medium-sized companies in the 
securities portfolio. Unlisted investments represent 79% of 
the securities portfolio.

u

Risks linked to the Development capital activity (excl. BFCM)

 December 31th, 2006

Amounts invested

Number of listed lines 94

Number of active unlisted lines 498

Number of funds invested 24

Portfolio for own account (in millions of euro) 1 369

Capital managed for third parties (in millions of euro) 385

u

Market operations risks
General organisation

Begun at the end of 2005, the grouping together of the 
market operations of the BFCM, the CIAL and the CIC into 
a single body “CM-CIC Marchés” was completed during 
2006. 

In terms of the capital adequacy requirement under the 
CAD, at the end of 2006, CM-CIC Marchés represented  
87%  of the Group’s overall market risks.

2006 was also characterised by a strategic refocusing of 
the activities of CM-CIC Marchés, which are now organised 
within three businesses: Refinancing, Commercial and Own 
Account. All the market making or portfolio management 
activities (share/index derivatives, rate swaps, rate options) 
were abandoned or sold off in 2006. 

u

The market transactions negotiated by CM-CIC Marchés 
are treated and recorded in the balance sheet of the BFCM, 
for the Refinancing business, and in that of the CIC, for the 
Commercial and Own Account businesses. The commercial 
operations carried out in the regional banks of the CIC Group 
are also recorded in the balance sheet of the CIC. Finally, 
market transactions can also be treated and recorded in the 
foreign branches (London, New-York and Singapore).

• the refinancing business: a team dedicated to cash 
management refinances the activities of retail banking 
and the subsidiaries, corporate and special financing, the 
own account of the CM-CIC front office and the liquidity 
instruments of the CIC Group. It pursues a policy of diver-
sification of its investor base through teams based in Paris, 
Frankfurt and London.

The products treated are mainly monetary instruments 
and firm interest and exchange rate hedging instruments. 
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• the commercial business: the sales teams working out 
of Paris or within the regional poles have at their disposal a 
single set of tools and products. A dedicated technical pole 
known as “CAR” (design matching turning round) was set 
up with the following objectives: to seek the best price, to 
preserve commercial margins and to turn round exchange 
and interest rate positions.

• the own account business: this is operating on two 
geographical sites (Paris and Strasbourg) around about 
ten activities, essentially types of arbitrage that can be 
grouped into families: shares, hybrids, credit (spread) and 
fixed income. These activities are themselves organised into 
specialities. Necessarily creating value within a framework 
of controlled risks, these activities are intended to serve as 
a base for the commercial development. 

Description of the control structures

The main mission of the control teams is to ensure a pro-
duction of daily or periodical reports that deal with all the 
results and risks involved in the different types of activities, 
and to propose analyses of these reports for the attention 
of the bodies monitoring that business line.

The major changes to the organisation of market ope-
rations in the CM-CIC Group described above have been 
accompanied by an adaptation of the structures, initiated 
in 2005, and completed during 2006:
• all the market operations (front office, control, back office) 
are attached to a member of the CIC’s board of directors. 
The latter validates the risk limits and the levels of equity 
capital allocated by the decision-making bodies (CIC board 
or BFCM board) and reports on the activities;
• the units carrying out the operations (front office) are 
separate from those in charge of monitoring the risks and 
results (control) as well as from those that provide vali-
dation, regulation and recording in the accounts (back 
office);
• the system of permanent control is based on a first level 
control based provided by three teams:
– control of risk-results (CRR) which validates the produc-
tion and carries out daily monitoring of the results.
– accounting and regulatory control (CCR), responsible for 
the reconciliation of the accounting and economic results 
as well as regulatory aspects.
– legal control, in charge of the legal aspects.
• a second level control organised around several teams:
– control of market operations (CdAM), attached to perma-
nent business control, exercising permanent second level 
control over the CIC Group’s specialised businesses.
– the commitments department: checks compliance with 
credit procedures and follows the outstanding risks by 
group of counterparties.

u

– the legal and tax department: controls the CM-CIC 
Marchés’ legal team.
– the finance department: supervises the accounting sys-
tems, the chart of accounts and the accounting and regu-
latory controls.
– the CMCEE-CIC audit group: operates with a specialised 
team of inspectors who carry out periodic controls of the 
market transactions.
• the back office is organised by products. The different 
teams are divided between the two sites in Paris and 
Strasbourg and are responsible for administrative treatment 
of the operations;
• finally, the market operations are steered by means of 
two committees:
– a monthly risks committee (CRM) meeting that monitors 
strategy, results and risks within the framework of the limits 
set by the board and supervises, in terms of risks, the mar-
ket operations of the foreign branches.
– a weekly management committee (CDM) meeting that 
coordinates the operational aspects: information system, 
budget, human resources, procedures.

Risk management

The system market risk limits rests on:
• a limit on potential losses;
• internal rules and scenarios (CAD risks and, currently 
being set up, the historical VaR and stress tests) allowing 
exposures to be converted into potential losses.

The limits cover the different types of market risks (inte-
rest rate, foreign exchange, shares and risk of non-repay-
ment) and are divided into sublimits by type of risk for each 
of the business scopes. No compensation may be carried 
out between types of risk.

The risks are monitored with both first level indicators 
(sensitivities of the different market risk factors), mainly 
intended for operators, and second level indicators (poten-
tial losses) which provide a more synthetic vision and are 
directly accessible to the decision-making bodies.

The monitoring methods were reviewed and standar-
dised in 2006 within CM-CIC Marchés.

The main risks of the room concern the following acti-
vities:
• global macro: this involves taking directional and relative 
value positions between the different classes of assets.
• short-term rate arbitrage: this involves taking a position 
on the evolution of the interest rates of the main OECD 
currencies (about ten). The EUR and the USD constitute 
the major part of the risks.
• credit/hybrids: the positions correspond either to securi-
ties/CDS arbitrage, or to credit correlation positions (first-
to-default against CDS, CDS against shares). The Credit 

u
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Arbitrage portfolios on bonds/CDS are stable over time.
• M&A and various shares: the consumption of CAD in 
share risk has its origins in M&A strategies (takeover bids 
and exchange offers) at 75%. The CAD is particularly disad-
vantageous in this business, with internal measurement 
giving a potential approximately three times lower. 
• Fixed income: the positions consist of curve arbitrages, 
most often with an underlying security. Other arbitrages 
between OECD government securities with the same matu-
rity but different issuers or with the same issuer and diffe-
rent maturities are also worthy of note.

The day-to-day cash position of CM-CIC Marchés must 
not exceed a certain threshold with an intermediate alert 
threshold, these limits having been validated by the board. 
This position is managed individually and globally with the 
BFCM, the Group’s refinancing entity. During 2006, the 
day-to-day position never exceeded the threshold autho-
rised. At the same time, there is liquidity monitoring of 
the own account with a maximum limit validated by the 
board.

Credit derivatives

Credit derivative products are used in the Group by CM-
CIC Marchés and in a highly marginal way by the CIC 
branch in Singapore.

CM-CIC Marchés carries all the outstanding amounts in 
its trading book. 

u

The control system includes these products in the credit/
counterparty risk management and supervision process. 

The trading room for its part observes risk limits by issue/
counterparty on all the supports, including the CDS. The 
outstanding amounts are monitored daily and subject to 
limits reviewed periodically by the bodies designated to 
this effect (commitment committees, market risk commit-
tees). 

The solvency ratio 
(ESR)

Since January 1st, 1996, market risks, mainly interest rate, 
foreign exchange, on shares and counterparty/settlement 
relating to the banks’ trading books are subject to specific 
capital adequacy requirements under the terms of the 
European capital adequacy directive (CAD).

The overall capital adequacy requirement is therefore 
equal to the addition of that relating to credit risks on 
all the weighted risks, excluding the trading book, that 
relating to the market risks of the trading book and that 
possibly constituted for major risks.

The Group calculates the capital adequacy requirement 
relating to the market risks using the standard regulatory 
model.
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Consolidate European Solvency Ratio of the CMCEE CIC Group

 December 31th, 2006

Total equity capital X 18,550 

Capital adequacy requirement on the credit risk (ESR) = T X 8% D 12,085 

Total weighted risks T 151,064 

Weighted Risks on balance sheet items   129,900 
– Risks weighted at 10 or 20%  7,424 
– Risks weighted at 50%  24,177 
– Risks weighted at 100%  98,299

Weighted risks on off-balance sheet items  20,034

Weighted risks on items relating to interest or exchange rates  1,129

Capital adequacy requirement on market risks VN 491

Credit risk equivalent 6,144

Overall coverage ratio Z = X / (D + VN) x 100 Z 147.50%

Expressed as an ESR type ratio Z’ = X / (T + VN x 12,5) x 100 Z’ 11.80%

Including tier 1 ratio (on hard core)  9.19%

u

The capital adequacy requirement must be over 8% of 
the weighted net risks. The regulatory ratios to which the 
CMCEE CIC Group is subject were met at December 31th, 
2006. More generally, the Group ensures that it complies 
with all the requirements formulated by the banking regu-
lator. 

Operational risks 
The Group is setting up a complete operational risk 

management system, under the responsibility of the top 
management, with a single risk reference base and shared 
quantitative methods of evaluation, within the framework 
of the new prudential regulations.

General policy

In 2002, within the framework of Basle 2, the CM-CIC 
group began to implement generalised operational risk 
management, coordinated at national level.

In 2003, the general managers validated the advanced 
method option, with the aim of transforming the regula-
tory constraints into an opportunity to collectively better 
manage the Group’s operational risks. Thus, the system 
currently being introduced allows in particular for:
– optimisation of allocation of equity capital to operational 
risks,
– reduction of the losses resulting from operational risk,
– reinforcement of the ACPs and crisis management,
– adjustment of the financing of residual risks.

u

In 2005, the Group’s executive and decision-making 
bodies approved the general operational risks policy 
which lays down the strategic orientations to be taken 
into account in implementing the CMCEE CIC’s Group’s 
operational risk management system. 

In 2006, the strategic orientations assigned to the new 
development phase of the CMCEE CIC Group invited each 
horizontal function to set up a single organisation based 
on six regional poles and business-based sectors and sub-
sidiaries, which must generally integrate the regulatory 
requirements of Basle 2 and the CRBF 97.02. 

Which leads, amongst other things, to the setting up of 
periodic control, permanent control and conformity teams, 
including management of operational risks, common to the 
Group with a view to: 
– coordinating the control actions
– capitalising on the work already done
– ensuring coherence in monitoring and demands regar-
ding the banking and business operators.

Within this framework, the operational risk management 
team (CM-CIC Group function and regional functions) is 
being reorganised to cover the CMCEE CIC scope (banks, 
federations and business centres) in order to meet the new 
strategic objectives and to develop a synergy with perma-
nent control and conformity. 

The CM-CIC principles are taken into account of course: 
scope of responsibility in operational risks, job descrip-
tions… In this respect, the term permanent control must 
be used instead of internal control, periodic control instead 
of General Inspection.
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Main objectives 

The introduction of our operational risk management 
policy pursues the following objectives:
– to contribute to the steering of the Group by controlling 
risks and their costs.
– from a human point of view: to protect people, develop 
responsibility, autonomy and controls, to capitalise on the 
Group’s skills.
– from an economic point of view: to preserve margins by 
managing our operational risks as tightly as possible on all 
our activities, to guarantee a return on investment on the 
compliance with regulations, to optimise the equity capital 
allocated to the cost of risk and adapt our insurance pro-
grammes to the risks identified.
– from a regulatory point of view: to respond effectively to 
Basle 2 and to the demands of the control authorities, to rely 
on internal control (CRBF 97.02), to reinforce the ACPs of 
the essential activities (CRBF 2004-02), to adapt our financial 
communication (pillar 3 of Basle 2, NRE, LSF…) and imple-
ment the sound practices of Basle 2 (February 2003).

 Responsibility of the management bodies  
and periodic control 

The involvement of the management bodies is explicitly 
mentioned in the regulation, at both regional and national 
level. 

At national level:
– The council of CNCM (decision-making body) validates 
the Group’s general risk policy, checks the overall coherence 
of the system, monitors the Group’s operational risks (level, 
evolution, ACP) and ensures that the system is audited.
– The general manager of the CNCM, with the backing of 
the general managers of the regional Groups (executive 
body), is responsible for the implementation of the group’s 
system, draws up the Group’s general risk policy and relies 
on the group operational risks function to develop and 
coordinate the overall system.
– The CNCM’s periodic control function audits risk mana-
gement like any other function in the company, audits the 
systems for assessing these risks and checks the efficiency 
of the activity continuation plans (ACP).

 At regional level (for each Crédit Mutuel Group, CIC 
group and the Group’s banks and business centres):

– The board of directors or supervisory board validates 
the general risk policy, regularly monitors the overall risk 
profile, is informed of any changes in the risks and ensures 
that the system is audited.

u

u

– The general management is responsible for the imple-
mentation of the system within its scope, draws up the 
general risk policy (guidelines, procedures and risk control 
processes) and relies on its operational risk manager (regio-
nal function) to develop the system in all the activities at 
every level.
– The regional group’s periodic control function audits risk 
management like any other function in the company and 
checks the efficiency of the activity continuation plans.

 Role and positioning of the operational risk 
manager function

The CMCIC group operational risks function coordinates 
and consolidates the whole of the system, has a dedicated 
team at the service of the Group, runs the regional groups’ 
team of operational risk managers.

The regional function implements the system and its 
evaluations in line with the overall system, is run by the 
regional group operational risk manager, exists in each 
regional group or significant entity.

 Operational risk management  
information system

Shared operational risk management tools, based on 
a reference base in line with Basle 2, have been develo-
ped and integrated into the Group’s IT architecture. Thus, 
inventories of incidents since 2001, mapping and model-
ling of risks and the activity continuity plans are accessible 
to the risk managers concerned.

 Operational risk measurement  
and control system

Mappings of the Group’s homogenous risks, by Basle 2 
business line and by type of risk are rolled out for all the 
activities with expert appraisals, then probabilistic models, 
in particular for severe risks. The models are validated by the 
operational risk technical committee. Allocations of equity 
capital are calculated at regional and national level.

The general orientations of operational risk reduction 
include:
– Effective preventive actions (those that cost less than the 
risk treated) identified when the mappings are implemen-
ted directly by operational staff and via permanent control 
and quality control.
– Protective actions are directed as a priority towards the 
generalisation of the business, logistics and IT activity conti-
nuation plans for essential activities.
A Group-coherent crisis management system linked to that 
already in place for interbank is being generalised.
The operational risk financing programmes are reviewed 
as the results of the assessment of “net risks” are produced 

u

u

u
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(including the reduction actions decided) and follow the 
principles below:
– To insure insurable severe and major risks, bringing the 
weight of the Group into play as much as possible in order 
to obtain the best investments and develop self-insurance 
of the group below the insurers’ excesses and for intra-
group risks. 
– To insure the frequency risks when it is justified or finance 
them by retention on the trading account (expected 
loss).
– Non-insurable severe risks and the uninsured balance 
are the subject of prudential equity reserves (unexpected 
loss).
– Major exchange system and interbank payment risks 
are the subject of reserve liquidity funds constituted and 
allocated by system.

Reporting and general steering

The application of the operational risk management 
policy and the risk profile will be monitored, from 2007 
on, using key indicators, thresholds and alerts covering 
the assessment of the potential risks, the evolution of the 

u

total loss experience, the effectiveness of the reduction and 
financing measures decided. 

In the event of any drift at regional group level, the exe-
cutive body will invite the entities concerned to analyse the 
causes, reinforce the reduction actions and complete the 
financing of the risk, and will then report to the decision-
making body.

The allocations of equity capital will be calculated accor-
ding to the advanced method and the Standard method 
(from the NBR by business line). Their distribution will 
take account of the differences in the level of risk control 
between entities.

Other risks
Legal risks

There are no significant legal risks within the group.

Industrial and environmental risks

Not applicable to the Group.

u

u
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The Shareholders, Dear Sirs,

In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us by your General Meeting, we have examined the 
consolidated financial statements of the Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe relating to the financial year 
ending on December 31th, 2006, as they are enclosed with this report. 

The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors. Our role is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

Opinion on the consolidated financial statements

We have conducted our audit in accordance with the professional standards applied in France. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statements presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the company’s financial position 
and its assets and liabilities, as well as of the results of the unit constituted by the persons and entities 
included in the consolidation in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in France.

Justification of our comments

In application of the provisions of Article L.823-9 of the French Commercial Code relating to the 
justification of our comments, we hereby inform you of the following facts:

• Your Group, as indicated in note 1 of the Notes, constitutes provisions to cover the credit risks 
inherent to its activities. We have examined the control system relating to the monitoring of credit risks, 
the provisioning methodologies, the appreciation of the risks of non-recovery and their coverage by 
individual and collective provisions. 

• Your Group uses internal models and methodologies to value the financial instruments not treated 
on the active markets, as well as for the constitution of certain provisions and the appreciation of the 
relevance of the hedging operations. We have examined the control system relating to the verification 
of the models and the determination of the parameter used.

• Your Group constitutes provisions to cover employee commitments as described in notes 1 to 25 of 
the Notes. Our task consisted of examining the assumptions and methods of calculation applied. 

The comments thus made fall within the framework of our audit of the financial statements taken as 
a whole, and have therefore contributed to the forming of our opinion without reservation, expressed 
in the first part of this report. 

K.M.T Audit
KMPG network

9, avenue de l’Europe Espace européen de l’Enterprise
BP 20002

67300 Schiltigheim

Statutory Auditor
Member of the Regional Company of Colmar

Ernst & Young & Autres
41, rue Ybry

92576 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex
S.A.S with variable capital, minimum 37,000 euro

Statutory Auditors
Member of the Regional Company of Versailles



Specific verifications

We also performed, in accordance with the professional standards applied in France, the verification 
of the information relating to the Group given in the management report. 

We have no comment as to its fair presentation and the conformity with the consolidated financial 
statements.

Schiltigheim and Neuilly-sur-Seine, April 17th, 2007 
The Statutory Auditors 

KMT Audit SARL
KMPG network 

Henri Kœnig
Arnaud Bourdeille

Ernst & Young & Autres

Olivier Durand
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